Age-specific and sex-related changes of gait in the Japanese elderly

イルマ,ノル,アフィア

https://doi.org/10.15017/1789439

出版情報:九州大学,2016,博士(工学),課程博士 バージョン: 権利関係:全文ファイル公表済

## Age-specific and sex-related changes of gait

## in the Japanese elderly

日本人高齢者における歩行動作の加齢変化および性差

Irma Nur Afiah

November, 2016

#### Abstract

The objectives of this dissertation were to investigate the effect of aging on gait parameters in Japanese elderly, to clarify whether age-related changes in gait characteristics are consistent and continue with advanced age when subcategorizing according to early and late elderly, and to investigate the differences according to sex in gait characteristics between elderly Japanese men and women. Three studies were conducted in order to investigate: 1) agerelated changes in the walking motion of elderly Japanese women; 2) age-related changes in the walking motion of elderly Japanese men; and 3) sex-specific differences in the walking motion of Japanese elderly. The first study indicated that the timing of peak joint angle and angular velocity parameters are the main characteristics that define gait changes in the elderly. Very elderly women showed a cadence-dependent walking pattern, and delayed peak timing of joint angle and angular velocity during the critical phases throughout the gait cycle (pre-swing, initial swing, and terminal swing phases). These delays in peak timing primarily reflect the unique joint behavior in very elderly women. The second study extended the same investigation for elderly Japanese men. The specific gait characteristics of very elderly men were slower walking speed, smaller cadence, delayed peak timing at the hip and knee joint, smaller first peak plantar flexion angular velocity, and greater second peak plantar flexion angular velocity at the ankle joint. The third study investigated sex differences between elderly Japanese men and women. Sex-specific differences in walk ratio, the hip maximal angle range, peak extension timing at the hip joint, and second peak flexion timing at the knee joint are peculiar in elderly individuals. In conclusion, the results of this dissertation would be useful for identifying and monitoring parameters that reflect the gait characteristics in the elderly population. In addition, the findings of this dissertation could be used to improve the health care system and would be necessary to assist well-being, nursing, rehabilitation of motor disorders, and to prevent walking ability deterioration in this population.

### Table of contents

Abstract	i
Table of contents	ii
List of tables	vi
List of figures	viii
Chapter 1. General introduction	1
1.1 Aging as a global issue	2
1.2 Walking ability decline with age	4
1.3 Sex-specific differences in gait characteristics	7
1.4 Gait motion throughout the gait cycle	9
1.5 Gait parameters and its measurement	12
1.6 General objectives and research plan	14
1.7 Structure of the dissertation	15
Chapter 2. Age-related changes in the walking motion of	18
elderly Japanese women	
2.1 Introduction	19
2.2 Material and methods	22
2.2.1 Participants	22
2.2.2 Procedures	23
2.2.3 Measurements	24
2.2.4 Gait parameters	24
2.2.5 Statistical analysis	33

2.3 Results	34
2.3.1 Participants	34
2.3.2 Basic gait parameters	34
2.3.3 Gait cycle parameters	35
2.3.4 Joint angle parameters	36
2.3.5 Angular velocity parameters	38
2.4 Discussion	40
2.4.1 Basic gait parameters	40
2.4.2 Gait cycle parameters	42
2.4.3 Joint angle parameters	43
2.4.4 Angular velocity parameters	48
2.4.5 Implications, limitations, and future research	51
2.5 Conclusions	52
Chapter 3. Age-related changes in the walking motion of	53
elderly Japanese men	
3.1 Introduction	54
3.2 Material and methods	55
3.2.1 Participants	55
3.2.2 Procedures	56
3.2.3 Measurements	57
3.2.4 Gait parameters	57
3.2.5 Statistical analysis	57
3.3 Results	58
3.3.1 Participants	58

	3.3.2 Basic gait parameters	58
	3.3.3 Gait cycle parameters	59
	3.3.4 Joint angle parameters	60
	3.3.5 Angular velocity parameters	62
3.4	Discussion	64
	3.4.1 Basic gait parameters	64
	3.4.2 Gait cycle parameters	64
	3.4.3 Joint angle parameters	66
	3.4.4 Angular velocity parameters	69
	3.4.5 Implications, limitations, and future research	72
3.5	Conclusions	73
Ch	apter 4. Sex-specific differences in walking motion for	74
	healthy, elderly Japanese individuals	
4.1	healthy, elderly Japanese individuals	75
		75 77
	Introduction	
	Introduction Material and methods	77
	Introduction Material and methods 4.2.1 Participants	77 77
	Introduction Material and methods 4.2.1 Participants 4.2.2 Procedures	77 77 77
	Introduction Material and methods 4.2.1 Participants 4.2.2 Procedures 4.2.3 Measurements	77 77 77 78
4.2	Introduction Material and methods 4.2.1 Participants 4.2.2 Procedures 4.2.3 Measurements 4.2.4 Gait parameters	77 77 77 78 78
4.2	Introduction Material and methods 4.2.1 Participants 4.2.2 Procedures 4.2.3 Measurements 4.2.4 Gait parameters 4.2.5 Statistical analysis	77 77 77 78 78 78 78
4.2	Introduction Material and methods 4.2.1 Participants 4.2.2 Procedures 4.2.3 Measurements 4.2.4 Gait parameters 4.2.5 Statistical analysis Results	77 77 78 78 78 78 78 79
4.2	Introduction Material and methods 4.2.1 Participants 4.2.2 Procedures 4.2.3 Measurements 4.2.4 Gait parameters 4.2.5 Statistical analysis Results 4.3.1 Participants	77 77 78 78 78 78 79 79

4.3.5 Angular velocity parameters	82
4.4 Discussion	85
4.4.1 Basic gait parameters	85
4.4.2 Gait cycle parameters	86
4.4.3 Joint angle parameters	87
4.4.4 Angular velocity parameters	89
4.4.5 Implications, limitations, and future research	90
4.5 Conclusions	91
Chapter 5. General discussion	92
5.1 Summary	93
5.2 General discussions	94
5.2.1 Gait characteristics in advanced age	94
5.2.2 Sex-specific differences in aging changes in the gait motion with	97
advanced age	
5.3 Implications	102
5.4 Limitations	102
5.5 Future research priorities	103
5.6 Conclusions	104
References	105

Acknowledgement

### List of tables

Table 2.1	Participant characteristics	23
Table 2.2	Comparison of the basic gait parameters between elderly women and	35
	very elderly women	
Table 2.3	Comparison of the gait cycle parameters between elderly women and	36
	very elderly women	
Table 2.4	Comparison of the joint angle parameters between elderly women and	37
	very elderly women	
Table 2.5	Comparison of the angular velocity parameters between elderly women	39
	and very elderly women	
Table 3.1	Participant characteristics	56
Table 3.2	Comparison of the basic gait parameters between elderly men and very	59
	elderly men	
Table 3.3	Comparison of the gait cycle parameters between elderly men and very	60
	elderly men	
Table 3.4	Comparison of the joint angle parameters between elderly men and very	61
	elderly men	
Table 3.5	Comparison of the angular velocity parameters between elderly men and	63
	very elderly men	
Table 4.1	Participant characteristics	77
Table 4.2	Comparison of the basic gait parameters between elderly men and elderly	79
	women	
Table 4.3	Comparison of the gait cycle parameters between elderly men and elderly	80
	women	

Table 4.4	Comparison of the joint angle parameters between elderly men and	82
	elderly women	
Table 4.5	Comparison of the angular velocity parameters between elderly men and	84
	elderly women	
Table 5.1	Sex-specific differences with advanced age	99

## List of figures

Figure 1.1 Division of the gait cycle	11
Figure 2.1 Hip joint angle	28
Figure 2.2 Knee joint angle	29
Figure 2.3 Ankle joint angle	30
Figure 2.4 Hip angular velocity	31
Figure 2.5 Knee angular velocity	32
Figure 2.6 Ankle angular velocity	33
Figure 2.7 The peak timing of joint angle and angular velocity parameters	51
Figure 3.1 The peak timing of joint angle and angular velocity parameters	72

# Chapter 1

## **General Introduction**

#### 1.1 Aging as a global issue

It is widely agreed that the population of older individuals is increasing dramatically in the majority of countries, both developed and developing countries. According to a report released by United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs in 2015, 12% of world's population were older individuals aged 60 years or over. According to East-West Center (2010), the number of people aged 65 and over is expected to grow dramatically in the next 60 years in Asia, whereby older women will outnumber older men. Furthermore, aging is not only an immediate personal issue, but also a significant factor in crucial public policies, such as pensions, health care, and long-term care (Muramatsu and Akiyama 2011). Generally, the furthest along countries in the population-aging process are in East Asia and are followed by countries of Southeast Asia, and of South Asia (East-West Center 2010).

Elderly population growth in Japan is evident. The number of Japanese elderly is increasing and life expectancy also continues to increase (Cortazzi 2015). Japan's socio-economic system has already been substantially affected by rapid population aging and the welfare of older persons is likely to be affected in the

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

future (Ogawa and Matsukura 2007). Approximately, two-thirds of older Japanese adults currently engage in no regular leisure-time physical activity (Yasunaga et al. 2008).

Increasing elderly population and life expectancy are related to the quality of life of this population (Demura et al. 2012; Roppolo et al. 2012). Generally, the quality of life is considered a critical component of public health, as it is decisive for the physical activities recommended for elderly individuals (Guallar-Castillon et al. 2004). Particularly, the adequate habitual physical activity is necessary for health promotion, disease prevention, and delaying the functional loss in elderly individuals (Yasunaga et al. 2008). Loss of physical function due to aging affects the ability to perform the essential activities of daily living (ADLs) (Penninx et al. 2001; Covinsky et al. 2003). ADLs are fundamental to maintaining independence and the quality of life of older individuals (Covinsky et al. 2003). Therefore, maintaining functional independence in ADLs (included walking, bathing, grooming, etc.) and improving the quality of life are mandatory (Hachisuka et al. 1998; Wada et al. 2005).

#### 1.2 Walking ability decline with age

Loss of independence is one of main issues of the aging process (Kirkwood et al. 2007; Callisaya et al. 2010; Kimura et al. 2012; Demura et al. 2013). Advanced age causes some difficulties in locomotive activities, including walking. The ability to walk efficiently and safely is important for elderly individuals to maintain their independence (Callisaya et al. 2010). Several studies reported how aging affects the independence of walking in older adults (Alexander 1996; Bohannon and Eriksrud 2001; Menz et al. 2003; Frank and Patla 2003; Toebes et al. 2012; Demura et al. 2013; Verlinden et al. 2013; Hillcoat-Nalletamby 2014). For instance, Menz et al. (2003) reported that older individuals showed reduced vision, peripheral sensation, and limb strength, that affected their walking ability. Additionally, the decline in walking ability is associated with increased risk of falls, hospitalization, and subsequent physical and cognitive decline (Jerome et al. 2015).

The deterioration of walking ability in older individuals can be distinguished by several changes in some biomechanical characteristics of habitual gait. Generally, older individuals exhibit a modified gait pattern compared to the young

individuals by adopting specific movement strategies as a response to the alterations in musculoskeletal function (Alcock et al. 2013). Furthermore, older individuals would select a slower walking speed with a shorter step/stride length and shorter duration of swing phase (DeVita and Hortobagyi 2000) The changes in cadence and step length would affect walking speed and duration of gait cycle in elderly; shorter duration of gait cycle and smaller cadence showed that older individuals required more time to cover the same distance than younger counterparts (Afiah et al. 2014a). Additionally, age-related decline in walking ability could be determined from changes in specific joint angle movements. For instance, older individuals walked with smaller hip range of motion and plantar flexor strength than young adults, and this was a major characteristic of gait in elderly (Anderson and Madigan 2014). In addition, the decrease of the lower-limb muscle strength and leg strength affects mobility in older individuals, contributing primarily to the deterioration in walking stability (Savelberg and Meijer 2004; Shin et al. 2012).

The contribution of lower extremities (including the hip, knee, and ankle joint) to gait mechanism has been recognized in several previous studies (Winter 1984; Crosbie et al. 1997a; DeVita and Hortobagyi 2000; Terrier and Reynard 2015).

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

Terrier and Reynard (2015) stated that significant strength loss in the lower extremities begins around the age of 40 to 50 years. Moreover, DeVita and Hortobagyi (2000) also reported that elderly individuals generate decreased joint torques and powers in the lower extremities. Throughout one gait cycle, older adults generated less positive work at the ankle and more positive work at the hip compared to the younger adults, and this phenomenon occurs with normal aging (DeVita and Hortobagyi 2000; Silder et al. 2008). Additionally, the reduction in knee flexion, the increment in ankle plantar flexion, and the alteration of swing phase were general gait characteristics often reported with advanced age (Alcock et al. 2013).

Currently, the majority of geriatric rehabilitation centers focus on restoring the walking ability in a wide range of medical diagnoses (Chui and Lusardi 2010). Several differences in gait performance of individuals at early and late old ages have been reported (Alexander 1996; Chui and Lusardi 2010; Salzman 2010; Thaler-Kall et al. 2015). For instance, difficulty in walking and decrease comfortable gait speed occur after the age of 63 years (Alexander 1996). Furthermore, people aged 70 years and greater must pay more attention to the complex tasks of walking in order to reduce the risk of falls (Thaler-Kall et al.

2015). Falls during walking are a major health issue in older individuals, as they are detected in approximately 60% of those 80 to 84 years of age (Salzman 2010) and are primarily caused by gait and balance disorders (Terrier and Reynard 2015). Consequently, a better understanding of the age-related decline in walking ability and the assessment of specific gait characteristics of persons at early and late old age might be useful for well-being, nursing, and the rehabilitation of motor disorders. In addition, understanding gait characteristics of the elderly and how gait is affected by aging can prevent dysfunction and loss of independent ambulation (Kirkwood et al. 2007; Callisaya et al. 2009; Salzman 2010).

#### 1.3 Sex-specific differences in gait characteristics

In addition to age, sex-specific differences play an important role for gait characteristics (Cho et al. 2004; Demura et al. 2008; Bruening et al. 2015). Sexspecific differences in skeletal dimension affect the gait patterns (Cho et al. 2004). For instance, younger women walked with higher cadence and shorter stride length than men due to their short height (Cho et al. 2004) and younger women also demonstrated greater peak foot pronation angles compared to men as a strategy of absorbing energy (Kernozek et al. 2007). In addition, adult women increase their knee range of motion throughout the gait cycle in order to provide an anterior cruciate ligament loading environment compared to their counterparts (Decker et al. 2003).

The gait parameters often used to compare gait characteristics between women and men are walking speed, cadence, stride length, and changes in the range of motion at the hip, knee, and ankle joints (Decker et al. 2003; Ko et al. 2011; Bruening et al. 2015). Furthermore, the majority of previous studies investigated sex differences in gait between young or adult men and women (Decker et al. 2003; Ferber et al. 2003; Cho et al. 2004; Kernozek et al. 2007). Other studies included middle-aged and older individuals and therefore the age range in these studies was wide (Crosbie et al. 1997a; Hachisuka et al. 1998; Callisaya et al. 2008; Ko et al. 2011). Therefore, this dissertation focused on the investigation regarding sex differences on gait characteristics among elderly Japanese men and women aged over 65 years.

#### 1.4 Gait motion throughout the gait cycle

Generally, gait motion is described and characterized in the context of the gait cycle (Umberger 2010). The gait cycle is divided into 2 phases: stance and swing (Ayyappa 1997). The stance phase begins with the initial contact of the foot to the ground and continues till the foot is on the ground, while the swing phase begins as the foot is lifted from the floor (also known as toe-off) (Perry and Burnfield 2010). In a complete gait cycle, two components are related to the limbsupport, namely single support and double support phases. Double support phase indicates that both feet are on the floor simultaneously (Vieira et al. 2015), while the single support phase is the period when only one foot is in contact with the ground (Ayyappa 1997). Specifically, the stance phase is subdivided into 5 phases, namely initial contact, loading response, mid-stance, terminal stance, and pre-swing phases (Figure 1.1). Meanwhile, 3 phases are involved in the swing phase, namely initial swing, mid swing, and terminal swing phases (Rancho Los Amigos National Rehabilitation Center 1989; Perry and Burnfield 2010). Each of 8 specific gait phases has a functional objective and a critical pattern in order to complete one gait cycle. Additionally, the combination of these phases enables

the limb to accomplish 3 basic tasks: weight acceptance, single limb support, and swing limb advancement (Perry and Burnfield 2010),

During walking, when the foot first contacts the floor, all leg joints play important roles. At the beginning of the stance phase, using the heel as a rocker, the knee is flexed for shock absorption and weight-bearing stability until the end of the loading response phase (Perry and Burnfield 2010). Furthermore, the single limb support continues the stance phase with mid stance and terminal stance (Liu et al. 2009). At these phases, the hip and knee are extended while the limb advances over the stationary foot by the ankle dorsiflexion (Perry and Burnfield 2010).





At the end of the stance phase, also known as the pre-swing phase, the reference limb responds with increased ankle plantar flexion, greater knee flexion, and hip extension in order to initiate the forward motion that is used in the swing phase (Perry and Burnfield 2010; Kharb et al. 2011). Moreover, all leg joints contribute to optimize the swing limb advancement by moving the limb forward from its trailing position during the initial and mid swing phases. During the initial swing phase, knee flexion is performed to facilitate toe clearance, while hip flexion advances the limb, and ankle dorsiflexion is complete (Nene et al. 1999; Perry and Burnfield 2010). Subsequently, the knee extends and the ankle continues

dorsiflexion to neutral until the end of mid swing phase (Kharb et al. 2011).

Finally, in the terminal swing phase, the limb is decelerated in order to prepare for the heel strike, which will terminate the swing phase and also will indicate the end of one complete gait cycle (Rueterbories et al. 2010). During this phase, the limb advancement is completed by knee extension and the ankle remains in dorsiflexion to neutral (Perry and Burnfield 2010; Kharb et al. 2011). All leg joints contribute to prepare the limb for the next initial contact.

#### 1.5 Gait parameters and its measurement

The most commonly reported gait parameters are the spatial and temporal parameters. Walking speed and step/stride length are defined as spatial parameters, while time of swing phase, time of stance phase, time of one gait cycle, and double/single support durations are temporal parameters. Most previous studies focused on spatial-temporal parameters (Kimura et al. 2007; Callisaya et al. 2008; Callisaya et al. 2010; Schulz 2012; Afiah et al. 2014a; Afiah et al. 2014b; Vieira et al. 2015) and several of studies combined them with other general gait parameters, including kinematic and/or kinetic parameters (Moyer et

al. 2006; Kirkwood et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2013). Recently, the gait parameters often used in order to identify gait characteristics among elderly, with respect to sex differences, are joint angle movements, including flexion/extension and plantar flexion/dorsiflexion of the hip, knee, and ankle joints (Cho et al. 2004; Savelberg and Meijer 2004; Kernozek et al. 2007; Doyo et al. 2011; Ko et al. 2011; Demura et al. 2013; Alcock et al. 2013; Bruening et al. 2015). For example, Alcock et al. (2013) identified the alteration in gait mechanics by analyzing hip flexion/extension, knee flexion/extension, and ankle plantar flexion/dorsiflexion. This study found age-related changes only at the hip and ankle, while the knee joint was not affected by aging. Furthermore, Demura et al. (2013) analyzed only hip flexion and knee extension to examine the relationship between the walking ability and the fall risk of elderly. With respect to sex-specific differences, primary used gait parameters were maximal angle range, cadence, and joint angle movements at hip, knee, and ankle joints (Cho et al. 2004; Ko et al. 2010).

Since the majority of previous studies extensively focused only on differences between younger and older individuals, this dissertation would investigate how aging and sex differences affect gait characteristics among elderly. Several gait parameters might be peculiar among elderly individuals, namely the peak value

and peak timing throughout gait cycle. The peak timing parameters in this dissertation are introduced as the reliable gait parameters, because these parameters could represent the timing of joint angle displacement and the timing when the angular velocity of joint instantaneous change in flexion/extension or plantar flexion/dorsiflexion throughout one gait cycle. Particularly rigorous measurement is necessary for the walking speed condition to enhance the representative of natural walking speed in elderly individuals. To achieve this objective, participants should be instructed to walk as naturally as possible, at a self-selected comfortable pace similar to that performed in their daily life.

#### 1.6 General objectives and research plan

The main goal of this dissertation is to provide a new insight into age-related changes of walking motion among the elderly Japanese. Three specific objectives of this dissertation were to investigate the effect of aging on gait parameters in Japanese elderly, to clarify whether age-related changes in gait characteristics are consistent and continue with advanced age when subcategorizing according to early and late elderly, and to investigate the differences according to sex in gait characteristics between elderly Japanese men and women. The investigation included 3 necessary studies. The first study focused on the investigation of agerelated changes in elderly Japanese women. The second extended the same investigation for elderly Japanese men. These main studies proposed new gait parameters that strongly reflect the walking motion related to the aging process. The third study was conducted to investigate sex differences in gait parameters of Japanese elderly.

#### **1.7 Structure of the dissertation**

This dissertation is divided into five chapters:

#### **Chapter 1: General introduction**

This chapter describes the aging issues and its relationship with the quality of life. This chapter also describes how aging affects walking ability in elderly individuals, a brief introduction regarding sex differences of gait characteristics, and the importance of gait assessment to prevent deterioration of walking ability. A brief introduction with respect to gait motion throughout the gait cycle, general gait parameters, and their measurement is also provided. This chapter explains the general objective of the study and summarizes the research plan.

# Chapter 2: Aging-related changes in the walking motion of elderly Japanese women

In this chapter, we report a study published in SpringerPlus (DOI: 10.1186/s40064-016-2739-7; Irma Nur Afiah, Hiroki Nakashima, Ping Yeap Loh, Satoshi Muraki) on July 13, 2016. The purposes of this study were to investigate the effect of aging on gait parameters in elderly Japanese women and to identify parameters that are reflective of gait characteristics in the elderly population.

# Chapter 3: Aging-related changes in the walking motion of elderly Japanese men

The objectives of this chapter were to investigate the effect of aging on gait parameters in elderly Japanese men and to detect parameters that reflect the walking motion upon aging in the Japanese population.

#### Chapter 4: Sex-specific differences in walking motion for healthy, elderly

#### Japanese individuals

The objectives of this study were to investigate differences in gait parameters according to sex in healthy, elderly Japanese individuals and to identify specific gait characteristics of elderly men and women

#### Chapter 5: General discussion

This chapter summarizes the results described in Chapters 2, 3, and 4, including the general discussions, the implications, the limitations, future research priorities, and general conclusion of this dissertation.

Chapter 2

# Age-related changes in the walking motion of elderly Japanese women

#### 2.1 Introduction

Japan has one of the highest life expectancies, with Japanese women living to an average of 87 years old (World Health Organization 2016). Increases in the elderly population and life expectancy are related to quality of life (Demura et al. 2012; Roppolo et al. 2012), which is influenced by many factors, such as physical activity, environmental factors, social interaction, and demographics (Drewnoski and Evans 2001; Pernambuco et al. 2012; Sun et al. 2015; Heesch et al. 2015; Gao and Li 2016).

Gait, the act of walking or running in humans, is a fundamental daily physical activity (Kerrigan et al. 1998; Perry and Burnfield 2010; Baker 2013). However, advanced age can result in locomotive difficulty; specifically, with respect to walking, which is the most common of all human movements and is greatly affected by age (Winter 1991; Whittle 2007; Callisaya et al. 2008; Callisaya et al. 2010). Furthermore, walking is influenced by sex and physical condition (Whittle 2007). Accordingly, assessment of gait characteristics is essential to prevent deterioration of walking ability with advanced age. Numerous studies have addressed the changes in gait characteristics of the elderly (Watelain et al. 2000;

Arif et al. 2002; Callisaya et al. 2008; Lord et al. 2013). For example, Winter et al. (1990) reported that gait characteristics are involved in a reduction in walking speed, due to a shorter stride length. Similarly, shorter step lengths and a progressive limiting of the range of motion at the ankle have been observed in the elderly (Hageman and Blanke 1986). Changes in gait characteristics of the elderly can also be identified in joint movement angles (Savelberg and Meijer 2004; Kimura et al. 2007; Kirkwood et al. 2007).

In general, a reduction in muscle strength and lower extremity function, impaired mobility, and lower activity levels by age 70 have been well documented (Guralnik et al. 1995; Winegard et al. 1996; Drewnoski and Evans 2001; Silder et al. 2008). Many previous studies have investigated age-related changes in gait variability. The majority of these studies have noted comparable gait characteristics between younger and older study groups (Mills and Barrett 2001; Grabiner et al. 2001; Moyer et al. 2006; Kang and Dingwell 2008; Schulz 2012; Vieira et al. 2015). A number of studies have previously investigated age-related changes in very elderly individuals; however, analysis of gait parameters has been limited (Kirkwood et al. 2007; Callisaya et al. 2010). In the present study, elderly Japanese women were classified into 2 subcategories, elderly and very

elderly, to provide insight into whether age-related changes in gait characteristics are consistent and continued with advanced age. Moreover, it is necessary to identify gait parameters that are more reliable indicators of change in walking motions with advanced age. Spatial and temporal parameters are insufficient for a rigorous understanding of gait characteristics in elderly individuals. Despite growing agreement regarding the existence of age-related changes in gait characteristics, there is a lack of understanding regarding the changes themselves and appropriate parameters for evaluating these changes. When walking is observed using 3D motion analysis, many different parameters can be assessed. In the present study, timing-related parameters for evaluating agerelated changes in gait are proposed; namely, the timing of joint angle and angular velocity peak values throughout the gait cycle. To improve the assessment of walking, it is necessary to identify parameters strongly associated with the walking motion in elderly.

In this study, basic gait parameters, gait cycle parameters, joint angle parameters, and angular velocity parameters were evaluated. Basic gait parameters included walking speed, step/stride length, and cadence, which are regarded as the most frequently used time-distance parameters for evaluating

gait and walking patterns (Oberg et al. 1993; Whittle 2007; Thakurta et al. 2016). To obtain a better understanding of gait motion in elderly Japanese women, with respect to joint angle and angular velocity parameters, the peak joint angle and timing thereof were also obtained. The primary purpose of this study was to investigate the effect of aging on gait parameters in elderly Japanese women. The second purpose was to identify parameters that are reflective of gait characteristics in the elderly population. We hypothesized that differences in gait would exist among elderly and very elderly women.

#### 2.2 Material and methods

#### 2.2.1 Participants

Data were collected from 49 healthy elderly Japanese women, who were divided into 2 groups: (1) 30 elderly women (65 to 74.9 years old) with a mean age of 70.4  $\pm$  2.4 years, and (2) 19 very elderly women ( $\geq$  75 years old) with a mean age of 78.4  $\pm$  2.7 years. In this study, all participants were right-leg dominant. General study group characteristics are shown in Table 2.1.

All participants were screened prior to the start of the study using a medical

questionnaire. The purpose of screening evaluation was to ensure that participants did not have any serious orthopaedic symptoms in the lower-limb, and were capable of independent walking. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee, Faculty of Design, Kyushu University, and written consent was obtained prior to study procedures.

	Group 1 (Elderly women)	Group 2 (Very elderly women)	<i>p</i> value
Age (years)	70.4 ± 2.4	78.4 ± 2.7	< 0.01
Height (cm)	152.7 ± 5.6	$148.4 \pm 4.8$	< 0.01
Weight <i>(kg)</i>	50.8 ± 8.5	47.9 ± 7.4	NS
Lower-limb length (cm)	$69.5 \pm 3.6$	$66.9 \pm 2.8$	< 0.05

**Table 2.1 Participant characteristics** 

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

#### 2.2.2 Procedures

A 3D motion analysis system, consisting of 9 infrared cameras and Cortex software (Motion Analysis Corporation, Santa Rosa, CA, USA), was used to collect kinematic data. Participants were required to wear clothes in firm contact with the skin. Thirty-one trajectory markers were attached for each participant to the main bodily segments; head, upper limb (shoulder, elbow, wrist, spinal column, and sacrum), leg along the superior iliac spine, greater trochanter, lateral joint line of the knee, lateral malleolus, and toe.

#### 2.2.3 Measurements

Participants were asked to walk barefoot on a flat surface for 10 metres at a self-selected speed. Prior to any measurements, participants were also instructed to practice walking barefoot. A self-selected speed measurement was recorded for each participant with the aim of defining a representative gait pattern, as performed in daily life. In this study, 3 measurements were recorded to eliminate variation in walking speed and to enhance the reliability and accuracy of the average taken from these values. Additionally, as reported by Sadeghi et al. (2002), Ko et al. (2010), and Singer et al. (2013), 3 trials are recommended for gait measurement, as a means of obtaining the most natural stride and gait patterns for each individual.

#### 2.2.4 Gait parameters

All gait parameters were analysed using KineAnalyzer software (Kissei Comtec, Nagano, Japan). In total, 57 gait parameters were measured in this

 $\mathbf{24}$ 

study: 7 basic gait parameters (walking speed, stride length, step length, ratio of step length to height, ratio of step length to lower-limb length, cadence, and walk ratio), 7 gait cycle parameters (duration of swing phase, duration of stance phase, duration of one gait cycle, swing phase percentage, stance phase percentage, single support percentage, and double support percentage), joint angle parameters, and angular velocity parameters.

Furthermore, 21 joint angle parameters at the hip, knee, and ankle joints were analysed. At the hip and knee joints, the peak extension and flexion angles, in combination with timing of peak values and the maximal angle range, were identified. At the ankle joint, the peak plantarflexion and dorsiflexion angles, in combination with timing of peak values and the maximal angle range, were identified. Additionally, 22 angular velocity parameters were analysed. The peak extension and flexion angular velocities and timing of peak values were identified at the hip joint and knee joint, whilst the same parameters were identified for peak plantarflexion and dorsiflexion at the ankle joint.

Walking speed was calculated using step length multiplied by cadence. Stride length was measured between consecutive heel strikes of the same foot. Right step length and left step length were measured as the distance between the point

of initial contact of one foot and the point of initial contact of the opposite foot. Step length was calculated as the average of right and left step lengths. Subsequently, the ratios of step length to height and step length to lower-limb length were derived. Cadence was defined as the number of steps taken in a given time, and walk ratio was calculated as the ratio of step length to cadence.

Phases in the gait cycle were evaluated according to duration. The duration of the right swing phase was defined as the time when the right foot was off the ground, while the right stance phase was defined as the time when the right foot was on the ground. Similarly, the duration of the left swing phase was defined as the time when the left foot was off the ground, while the left stance phase was the time when the left foot was on the ground. The single support phase was defined as the period of time during which the opposite foot was lifted for swing phase, whilst the double support phase was defined as the period when both feet were in contact with the floor. The gait cycle was defined as the time interval between two successive occurrences of one repetitive event of walking.

The percentage of total duration attributable to the swing phase was calculated using the duration of the swing phase and gait cycle. The same calculation was performed to determine the percentage of total duration attributable to the stance,
single support, and double support phases, using the corresponding phase durations.

Joint angle parameters were also obtained. The angle at the hip joint was measured from 2 points on the body segment (greater trochanter and knee) with reference to the horizontal plane. Similarly, the knee joint was measured from 3 points on the body segment; specifically, the greater trochanter, knee, and lateral malleolus. Finally, the ankle joint was measured from 3 points on the body segment, including the knee, lateral malleolus, and toe. With respect to the hip joint angle, a positive value was taken to indicate hip extension, while a negative value indicated flexion. The peak extension angle was detected during the preswing phase, and the peak flexion angle was detected during the mid-swing phase; the maximal angle range was calculated between these maximal values (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Hip joint angle

At the knee joint, an increase in angle indicated extension of the knee, while a decrease was taken to indicate knee flexion. The peak extension angle was detected during the terminal stance phase, the first peak flexion angle during the mid-stance phase, and the second peak flexion angle during initial swing phase; the maximal angle range was calculated from the peak extension angle to the second peak flexion angle (Fig. 2.2).



Figure 2.2 Knee joint angle

At the ankle joint, an increased angle indicated plantarflexion, while a decrease was taken to indicate dorsiflexion. The first peak plantarflexion angle was detected during the loading response phase, the second peak plantarflexion angle during the initial swing phase, the first peak dorsiflexion angle during the terminal stance phase, and the second peak dorsiflexion angle during the mid-swing phase. The maximal angle range was calculated from the second peak plantarflexion plantarflexion angle to the first peak dorsiflexion angle (Fig. 2.3).



Figure 2.3 Ankle joint angle

For angular velocity parameters at the hip joint, a positive value indicated extension, while a negative value indicated flexion. The first peak extension angular velocity, second peak extension angular velocity, and peak flexion angular velocity were detected during the mid-stance phase, terminal swing phase, and initial swing phase, respectively (Fig. 2.4).



Figure 2.4 Hip angular velocity

For angular velocity parameters at the knee joint, a positive value indicated extension, while a negative value indicated flexion. The first peak extension angular velocity, second peak extension angular velocity, first peak flexion angular velocity, and second peak flexion angular velocity were detected during the mid-stance phase, terminal swing phase, loading response phase, and initial swing phase, respectively (Fig. 2.5).



Figure 2.5 Knee angular velocity

Finally, at the ankle joint, a positive angular velocity value indicated plantarflexion, while a negative value indicated dorsiflexion. The first peak plantarflexion angular velocity, second peak plantarflexion angular velocity, first peak dorsiflexion angular velocity, and second peak angular velocity were detected during the pre-swing phase, terminal swing phase, loading response phase, and initial swing phase, respectively (Fig. 6).



Figure 2.6 Ankle angular velocity

### 2.2.5. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Version 21.0 (Chicago, USA). Descriptive results were presented as means and standard deviation. Unpaired *t*-tests were performed to analyse differences in participant characteristics and gait parameters between elderly and very elderly Japanese women. The effect size (Cohen's d) of parameters was calculated. The level of significance was set at 0.05.

# 2.3 Results

### 2.3.1 Participants

In the present study, the age of the very elderly women (group 2) was significantly greater than that of the elderly women (group 1) (p < 0.01). Furthermore, height and lower-limb length in group 2 were significantly smaller than those in Group 1 (p < 0.01, p < 0.05, respectively). However, no significant difference was found in body weight between the groups (Table 2.1).

### 2.3.2 Basic gait parameters

Basic gait parameters for the 2 groups are presented in Table 2.2. Group 2 exhibited a significantly slower walking speed (p < 0.05) and shorter stride length, right and left step lengths, and step length (all p < 0.01), than those observed in group 1. Furthermore, the walk ratio in group 2 was also significantly less than that of Group 1 (p < 0.05). However, no significant differences were found in the difference between right and step lengths, ratio of step length to height, ratio of step length to lower-limb length, or cadence.

Parameters	Group 1 (Elderly women)	Group 2 (Very elderly women)	p value	Effect size
Walking speed (m/min)	75.3 ± 10.0	68.8 ± 8.1	< 0.05	0.71
Stride length ( <i>cm</i> )	122.0 ± 11.5	112.5 ± 7.5	< 0.01	0.97
Step length (cm)	60.9 ± 5.7	55.9 ± 3.6	< 0.01	1.04
Ratio of step length to height	$0.40 \pm 0.04$	$0.38 \pm 0.03$	NS	0.56
Ratio of step length to lower-limb length	$0.88 \pm 0.08$	$0.84 \pm 0.08$	NS	0.50
Cadence (steps/min)	123.6 ± 10.5	122.5 ± 8.7	NS	0.11
Walk ratio	0.50 ± 0.06	0.46 ± 0.03	< 0.05	0.84

# Table 2.2 Comparison of basic gait parameters between elderly women and very elderly women

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

### 2.3.3 Gait cycle parameters

A comparison of gait cycle parameters between the 2 groups is presented in Table 3. Significant differences were observed in the percentage of total duration attributable to the swing and stance phases (p < 0.05). The swing phase percentage in group 2 was significantly smaller than that of Group 1 (p < 0.05). Conversely, the stance phase percentage in group 2 was significantly greater than that of group 1 (p < 0.05). However, there were no significant differences observed between the groups with respect to the durations of the swing phase, stance phase, duration of gait cycle, single support percentage, or double support percentage.

Parameters	Group 1 (Elderly women)	Group 2 (Very elderly women)	p value	Effect size
Duration of swing phase (sec)	$0.38 \pm 0.02$	0.38 ± 0.02	NS	0.00
Duration of stance phase (sec)	$0.59 \pm 0.06$	0.61 ± 0.05	NS	0.36
Duration of one gait cycle (sec)	$0.98 \pm 0.08$	$0.99 \pm 0.07$	NS	0.18
Swing phase percentage (%)	39.4 ± 1.3	38.6 ± 1.1	< 0.05	0.66
Stance phase percentage (%)	60.6 ± 1.3	61.4 ± 1.1	< 0.05	0.66
Single support percentage (%)	78.6 ± 2.6	77.2 ± 2.2	NS	0.58
Double support percentage (%)	21.4 ± 2.6	22.8 ± 2.2	NS	0.58

Table 2.3 Comparison of gait cycle parametersbetween elderly women and very elderly women

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

### 2.3.4 Joint angle parameters

Significant differences were observed in the peak extension timing of the hip joint, second peak flexion timing of the knee joint, and second peak plantarflexion timing of the ankle joint (p < 0.05, p < 0.01, and p < 0.05, respectively).

Table 4 shows the results of all joint angle parameters. At the hip joint, the peak extension timing in group 2 was significantly later than that observed in group 1 (p < 0.05). This observation was also true at the knee and ankle joints, with the second peak flexion (p < 0.01) and second peak plantarflexion (p < 0.05), respectively, occurring later in group 2 than in group 1. However, no other significant differences were noted with respect to joint angle parameters.

	Group 1	Group 2	р	Effect
Parameters	(Elderly	(Very elderly	ہ value	size
	women)	women)	value	3120
Hip Joint				
Peak extension angle (deg)	19.4 ± 4.0	18.4 ± 4.8	NS	0.22
Peak extension timing (%)	54.2 ± 1.2	$54.9 \pm 0.7$	< 0.05	0.71
Peak flexion angle (deg)	-27.0 ± 2.6	-27.8 ± 2.4	NS	0.32
Peak flexion timing (%)	88.1 ± 1.8	88.9 ± 1.6	NS	0.47
Maximal angle range (deg)	46.4 ± 3.8	46.3 ± 4.4	NS	0.02
Knee Joint				
Peak extension angle (deg)	172.0 ± 5.4	170.1 ± 5.8	NS	0.34
Peak extension timing (%)	40.8 ± 3.2	$42.0 \pm 3.6$	NS	0.35
First peak flexion angle (deg)	157.2 ± 6.0	156.6 ± 4.2	NS	0.11
First peak flexion timing (%)	13.4 ± 1.1	13.1 ± 1.8	NS	0.20
Second peak flexion angle (deg)	114.4 ± 5.2	115.3 ± 4.6	NS	0.18
Second peak flexion timing (%)	73.4 ± 1.1	74.3 ± 0.9	< 0.01	0.89
Maximal angle range (deg)	57.5 ± 4.5	54.8 ± 4.9	NS	0.57
Ankle Joint				
First peak plantarflexion angle (deg)	102.1 ± 4.7	101.9 ± 3.6	NS	0.48
First peak plantarflexion timing (%)	5.9 ± 1.3	5.4 ± 1.2	NS	0.40
Second peak plantarflexion angle (deg)	111.6 ± 5.7	111.4 ± 6.3	NS	0.03
Second peak plantarflexion timing (%)	63.9 ± 1.5	65.0 ± 1.5	< 0.05	0.73
First peak dorsiflexion angle (deg)	84.5 ± 4.3	84.4 ± 3.5	NS	0.02
First peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	41.6 ± 5.3	43.2 ± 3.5	NS	0.35
Second peak dorsiflexion angle (deg)	92.0 ± 5.0	92.4 ± 3.2	NS	0.09
Second peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	83.8 ± 2.4	84.7 ± 1.6	NS	0.44
Maximal angle range (deg)	27.1 ± 4.1	27.0 ± 4.2	NS	0.02

# Table 2.4. Comparison of the joint angle parametersbetween elderly women and very elderly women

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

# 2.3.5 Angular velocity parameters

Table 5 shows the results of all angular velocity parameters. At the hip joint, the second peak extension timing and peak flexion timing in group 2 were significantly later than those in group 1 (p < 0.05). Again, this relationship held true for the knee and ankle joints; the second peak flexion timing at the knee (p < 0.05), and the first peak plantarflexion timing at the ankle (p < 0.05) were both later in group 2 than those observed in group 1. No significant differences were found in any other angular velocity parameters at the hip, knee, or ankle joints.

Parameters	Group 1 (Elderly women)	Group 2 (Very elderly women)	p value	Effect size
Hip Joint				
First peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	139.6 ± 26.2	129.5 ± 22.9	NS	0.41
First peak extension timing (%)	21.2 ± 2.9	20.3 ± 3.5	NS	0.28
Second peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	43.1 ± 21.8	41.5 ± 17.2	NS	0.08
Second peak extension timing (%)	93.2 ± 2.7	94.7 ± 2.1	<0.05	0.62
Peak flexion velocity (deg/s)	-232.7 ± 29.5	-226.8 ± 39.7	NS	0.17
Peak flexion timing (%)	66.8 ± 1.6	67.8 ± 1.5	<0.05	0.64
Knee Joint				
First peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	95.3 ± 27.5	87.0 ± 29.0	NS	0.29
First peak extension timing (%)	23.9 ± 3.1	23.1 ± 3.9	NS	0.23
Second peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	403.6 ± 50.7	379.2 ± 55.4	NS	0.46
Second peak extension timing (%)	88.7 ± 1.1	89.0 ± 1.3	NS	0.25
First peak flexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-176.8 ± 47.7	-157.1 ± 38.6	NS	0.45
First peak flexion timing (%)	5.9 ± 1.3	6.0 ± 1.3	NS	0.07
Second peak flexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-400.1 ± 50.7	-378.0 ± 52.9	NS	0.42
Second peak flexion timing (%)	62.3 ± 1.1	63.2 ± 1.6	<0.05	0.65
Ankle Joint				
First peak plantarflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	275.2 ± 43.8	264.9 ± 44.9	NS	0.23
First peak plantarflexion timing (%)	57.3 ± 2.1	58.5 ± 1.5	<0.05	0.65
Second peak plantarflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	81.7 ± 23.8	87.7 ± 33.8	NS	0.66
Second peak plantarflexion timing (%)	91.8 ± 2.6	92.4 ± 2.7	NS	0.22
First peak dorsiflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-111.1 ± 21.0	-104.4 ± 20.7	NS	0.32
First peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	12.0 ± 1.9	11.3 ± 1.6	NS	0.40
Second peak dorsiflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-167.3 ± 41.9	-161.2 ± 52.0	NS	0.13
Second peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	71.3 ± 2.9	72.5 ± 2.4	NS	0.45

# Table 2.5. Comparison of the angular velocity parameters

# between elderly women and very elderly women

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

# 2.4 Discussion

#### 2.4.1 Basic gait parameters

The key finding of this study is that a number of gait parameters are strongly associated with aging, as demonstrated in Japanese women across 2 subcategories (elderly and very elderly) in the 65 to 84 years age range. Slower walking speeds, shorter stride lengths, shorter step lengths, and a lower walk ratio were observed in the very elderly age group, when compared with elderly participants. Slower walking speeds in the elderly have been reported in many studies (Himann et al. 1988; Kaneko et al. 1991; Bohannon 1997; Prince et al. 1997; Callisaya et al. 2008). In this study, a decrease in the walking speed of the very elderly was primarily the product of a decrease in step/stride length; this observation has also been made in a number of previous studies (Bohannon 1997; Schulz 2012; Afiah et al. 2014b). Moreover, shorter step/stride length in very elderly women was largely associated with short stature. This observation is in agreement with those made by Bendall et al. (1989), Kimura et al. (2007), and Winter et al. (1990), where it was noted that height is directly related to stride length and walking speed. Furthermore, very elderly women showed lower walk ratios than their elderly counterparts. The walk ratio is a speed-independent indicator of walking patterns, and is derived from step length and cadence (Sekiya and Nagasaki 1998). Crosbie et al. (1997) found that gait variability in older adults is more likely to be step length-dependent, due to a limited gait capacity when compared to younger individuals. Therefore, the present study serves to extend observations made previously, in that lower walk ratios in very elderly women are indicative of a change in gait behaviour from a step length-dependent to cadence-dependent pattern; however, no significant differences were found with respect to cadence.

Furthermore, no significant differences were found in cadence between elderly and very elderly women. This finding is compatible with a number of previous studies, which reported that elderly individuals maintain a normal cadence during walking (Winter 1991; Watelain et al. 2000; Silder et al. 2008). Such observations are thought to be a product of generally high activity levels in elderly participants, and are aided by the absence of gait-related pathologies (Winter 1991). The elderly participants included in this study were also moderately active and had a reasonably good walking ability; therefore, it may be difficult to observe any significant difference with respect to cadence between

elderly and very elderly women.

### 2.4.2 Gait cycle parameters

Importantly, when analysing the complete gait cycle, it was also observed that very elderly women exhibit a smaller percentage of swing phase and greater percentage of stance phase, when compared with the elderly group. The swing phase is characterised by progression of the swing limb between consecutive support positions, and constitutes the basis of forward movement (Winter et al. 1990; Mills and Barrett 2001). The swing phase begins immediately after toe-off, and is determined by swing limb advancement. The stance phase involves a period of bilateral foot contact with the floor (double stance phase) at the beginning and end of a gait cycle (Perry and Burnfield 2010). In the present study, the smaller percentages of swing phase noted in very elderly women may be a product of reductions in swing limb advancement and muscle power, while greater percentages of stance phase might be caused by diminished limb and trunk stability. These results are similar to those reported by Whittle (2007) and Perry and Burnfield (2010), whereby normal swing acceleration is decreased due to hip flexor weakness and slow limb advancement in the elderly. An increase in

the duration of the stance phase was taken to indicate difficulty with maintaining balance while walking in elderly people. In addition, a greater percentage of stance indicated that the additional time after completing limb advancement was needed for elderly women for weight-bearing stability; however, it should be noted that no significant difference was found in the percentage duration of the double support phase. This result is analogous to that observed by Kimura et al. (2007), who found that a longer stance phase is a primary characteristic of the elderly, as a response to impaired balance during walking.

### 2.4.3 Joint angle parameters

It is well established that a number of joint angle movements are characteristic of the gait patterns observed in the elderly (Winter et al. 1990; Woollacott and Tang 1997; Kirkwood et al. 2007; Schmitz et al. 2009). The present study provides novel extension to those performed previously, by analysing essential joint angles at the hip, knee and ankle; specifically, the timing of peak angle throughout the gait cycle. In this study, both the peak angle and the temporal relationship of this value with the complete gait cycle were analysed as a means of improving understanding of gait characteristics in elderly Japanese women. Interestingly, the only significant differences noted between elderly and very elderly women were related to the timing of peak joint angles; namely, the peak extension timing at the hip joint, second peak flexion timing at the knee joint, and second peak plantarflexion timing at the ankle joint.

No significant differences were found in the peak values of any joint angle between elderly and very elderly women, in the present study. This finding is discordant with a number of previous studies regarding the effect of aging on joint angle parameters. For instance, DeVita and Hortobagyi (2000) reported that joint angular kinematics at the hip, knee, and ankle joints significantly differed according to age. Similarly, Ko et al. (2010) identified decreases in range of motion at the hip and ankle joints, as well as a reduction in peak plantarflexion angle in elderly people. In contrast, a study from Mills and Barrett (2001) reported no differences in the peak value of any joint angle, and suggested that this may be a product of differences in gait speed or stride length, general health condition, and activity levels in elderly participants. In the present study, the lack of significant differences in joint angle measurements is likely due to consistency in cadence and the ratio of step length to lower-limb length between elderly and very elderly women. Moreover, previous differences in peak joint angle

measurements have primarily been noted when comparing young and elderly age groups, rather than subsets of the elderly (Judge et al. 1996; Prince et al. 1997; Kerrigan et al. 1998; DeVita and Hortobagyi 2000). For instance, Kerrigan et al. (1998) pointed out that during comfortable walking, significant reductions were found in peak hip extension. Judge et al. (1996) also reported that older adults exhibit reduced peak ankle plantarflexion during the late stance phase, which constituted the primary contributing factor to shorter step lengths in the elderly, when compared to young participants.

When analysing the timing of peak joint angles, it was noted that delayed peak timing begun at approximately 54% of the gait cycle. At the hip joint, peak extension timing in very elderly women was delayed when compared to elderly women, and occurred during the pre-swing phase (50% to 62% of the gait cycle) when the hip joint transferred from a flexed to extended position. In this phase, terminal double limb support is initiated by floor contact of the contralateral limb (Perry and Burnfield 2010). A number of previous studies have identified gait characteristics of the hip joint in elderly individuals (Kerrigan et al. 1998; DeVita and Hortobagyi 2000; Schmitz et al. 2009; Anderson and Madigan 2014). For instance, Alcock et al. (2013) suggested that an extra increase in power

generation at the hip is required during the pre-swing phase in elderly adults, due to a reduction in gait capacity. In addition, Kerrigan et al. (1998) reported that a reduction in peak hip extension angle during walking is associated with an increase in anterior pelvic tilt and a reduced range of motion in hip extension; these factors, prevalent in elderly individuals, may contribute to age-related differences in gait motion (Anderson and Madigan 2014). In keeping with studies performed by Kerrigan et al. (1998), Alcock et al. (2013), and Anderson and Madigan (2014), the delay in peak extension timing of the hip joint in very elderly women might be a reflection of several factors, such as the extra effort required to change the hip joint position, poor hip flexor power for push-off, and a reduction in the range of extension.

Delayed peak joint angle timing was also detected during the initial swing phase (62% to 75% of gait cycle). In this phase, delayed timing was noted when the knee and ankle joints transferred from extended to flexed and dorsiflexed to plantarflexed positions, respectively. The initial swing phase begins when the foot leaves the ground and continues until maximum knee flexion occurs (Perry and Burnfield 2010). Knee flexion is essential in lifting the foot for swing limb advancement and to facilitate foot clearance during the initial swing phase (Nene

et al. 1999). Indeed, diminished knee flexion during the initial swing phase is associated with knee stiffness during walking (Goldberg et al. 2003). Moreover, elderly individuals appear to produce less isokinetic ankle plantarflexion during walking (Silder et al. 2008), have a more limited range of motion at the knee joint (Kirkwood et al. 2007), and exhibit poorer propulsion during the push-off period as a product of smaller plantarflexor torques (Cho et al. 2004). In addition, Ko et al. (2011) reported that elderly women exhibit poorer capacity to advance the swing limb forwards during the swing phase, as a product of less generative mechanical work expenditure from the knee joint. In a report from Shin et al. (2012), there was a significant correlation between muscle strength and gait variability at the knee joint. Accordingly, it can be suggested that the delayed peak angle timings observed during the initial swing phase at the knee and ankle joints are a product of knee stiffness, a reduction in push-off torque, less power to lift the limb, and deteriorating muscle strength with age.

It is also possible that delayed peak angle timings are affected by delays during the previous gait phase. For instance, the first delay in angular timing is observed at approximately 54% of the gait cycle; consequently, this may then affect peak angle timing in the subsequent phases (Fig. 2.7). However, delayed

peak timing does not appear to continue from 76% until the end of the gait cycle. Accordingly, delays in peak angle timing are likely to primarily reflect unique joint behaviour in the very elderly.

### 2.4.4 Angular velocity parameters

To our knowledge, this study is the first to provide a comparison of elderly and very elderly women with respect to peak angular velocities, and the temporal relationship of these peak values to the gait cycle, at the hip, knee, and ankle joints. However, significant differences were only noted in the timing of peak values throughout the gait cycle, rather than the peak velocities themselves. Peak values occurred during the pre-swing phase, initial swing phase, and terminal swing phase. Previously identified significant differences in peak angular velocity parameters have primarily been observed in comparison with younger (Watelain et al. 2000; Mills and Barrett 2001; Anderson and Madigan 2014) and middle-age participants (Ko et al. 2012). If the timing of the peak joint angle parameter is representative of the timing of joint angle displacement, then the timing of the peak angular velocity is representative of the greatest moment of instantaneous change in flexion/extension. Therefore, in combination with the timing of peak

joint angle movements, angular velocity is necessary to obtain a better understanding of gait characteristics in the elderly.

Delayed peak angular velocity begun in the pre-swing phase (52% to 62% of gait cycle), and was subsequently noted in the initial swing phase (62% to 75% of gait cycle) and terminal swing phase (87% to 100% of gait cycle). At the hip joint, the timing of the second peak extension in very elderly women occurred during the terminal swing phase (87 to 100% of gait cycle), which represents a delay when compared with elderly women. This corresponds to the point at which the hip joint is changing from a flexed to extended position. This phase is characterised by the deceleration of the swinging limb due to hip extensor activity (Rancho Los Amigos National Rehabilitation Center, 1989). During this phase, the hip maintains its earlier flexion (Kharb et al. 2011), while muscle action prepares the limb for stance by stopping further flexion (Perry and Burnfield 2010). During the terminal swing phase, limb retraction improves shock attenuation as a strategy to enhance foot ground-speed matching (Endo et al. 2014), and hamstring muscles rapidly increase the intensity of their action (Perry and Burnfield 2010). At the end of the terminal swing phase, however, activity of the hamstrings decreases, and the limb is optimally positioned for initial contact

(Perry and Burnfield 2010). Optimising the initial limb contact plays an important role in shock absorption. In the elderly, stride length is shortened as a means to compensate for a reduction in shock absorption capacity at the knee (Watelain et al. 2000). In addition, delayed and reduced hamstring muscle activation in the elderly is affected by the heel contact velocity (Prince et al. 1997; Lockhart and Kim 2006). Therefore, it is suggested that a delay in the timing of the peak hip angular velocity is related to a reduced necessity for shock absorption, due to a shorter stride length and/or slower adjustment of muscle activity at the hamstrings for shock absorption before heel contact in very elderly women.

Overall, findings in this study support the hypothesis that differences in gait appear between the subcategories of elderly and very elderly in Japanese women. Furthermore, a number of differences were noted in the timing of peak angle and angular velocity parameters between elderly and very elderly women. Interestingly, these peak timings appeared in the pre-swing, initial swing, and terminal swing phases (Fig.7), which are related to the position and advancement of the limb from its trailing position, toe clearance, and preparation for the next initial contact, respectively. Therefore, understanding joint angle and angular velocity parameters is essential to develop an understanding of aging-related

changes in gait.



Figure 2.7 The peak timing of joint angle and angular velocity parameters

### 2.4.5 Implications, limitations, and future research

To our knowledge, gait parameters related to the peak timing of each joint angle movement and angular velocity have not previously been examined. Therefore, these findings may be useful as a means of identifying and monitoring parameters that are reflective of walking ability in the elderly population. A limitation of the present study was the inclusion of only elderly women subcategories. Therefore, in further investigation, it would be interesting to evaluate gait differences in elderly Japanese men.

# 2.5 Conclusions

This study investigated the effect of aging on gait parameters in elderly Japanese women. A number of parameters (walking speed, stride length, step length, walk ratio, swing phase percentage, stance phase percentage, and peak timing of joints angle and angular velocity) showed significant differences between elderly and very elderly women. Our results suggest that examining peak values and the timing of joint angle and angular velocity parameters at the hip, knee, and ankle joints are the best reflection of changes in gait with age.

# Chapter 3

# Age-related changes in the walking motion of elderly Japanese men

# **3.1 Introduction**

Chapter 2 compared two subcategories of elderly Japanese women, elderly and very elderly, and suggested that gait characteristics of very elderly women include slower walking speed, shorter step and/or stride length, lower walk ratio, and changes in the percentage of the swing phase and stance phase. Additionally, elderly Japanese women also showed delayed peak timing of the joint angle and angular velocity at the hip, knee, and ankle joint. Therefore, according to Chapter 2, peak timing of the joint angle and angular velocity parameters could be used as reliable parameters to identify walking motions upon aging.

On the other hand, studies investigating walking patterns of elderly men are well documented (Murray et al. 1969; Kirtley et al. 1985; Judge et al. 1996; Watelain et al. 2000; Watanabe et al. 2015). For instance, Murray et al. (1969) and Kirtley et al. (1985) conducted the initial investigations of walking patterns of healthy old men. Their results indicated that both walking speed and stride length decreased with increasing age and that there was a correlation between cadence and knee flexion during the stance and swing phases. Moreover, Watelain et al. (2000) classified a gait pattern based on spatial-temporal parameters and muscle power. They concluded that peak muscle power at the hip, knee, and ankle joints of elderly men is lower compared with that of other age groups. Watanabe et al. (2015) also indicated that during one gait cycle, the toe-off timing in elderly men was late during their preferred walking speed in response to low activity of the rectus femoris muscle. Nevertheless, to our knowledge, there has been no investigation of the gait parameters that specifically reflect the walking motion of elderly men. The present study is an extension of the study described in Chapter 2; we investigated the gait characteristics of elderly Japanese men. Similarly, we aimed to identify reliable gait parameters to represent the walking motion of elderly Japanese men. Therefore, we investigated the effect of aging on gait parameters for elderly Japanese men to detect the parameters that reflect the walking motion upon aging in the Japanese population.

# 3.2 Material and methods

### 3.2.1 Participants

Fifty-three healthy elderly Japanese men were recruited and divided into two groups: Group 1, which comprised 33 elderly men (65–74.9 years old), and Group

2, which comprised 20 very elderly men (≥75 years old). In this study, one leftleg-dominant participant was included in each group and all other participants were right-leg-dominant. Participant characteristics are detailed in Table 3.1. Before the measurements, all participants were screened using a medical questionnaire (as described in Chapter 2). This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Design at Kyushu University and written consent was obtained.

Group 1 Group 2 p value (Elderly men) (Very elderly men) Age (years) 70.2 ± 2.7 77.1 ± 1.8 < 0.01 Body Height (cm)  $164.8 \pm 5.4$  $163.4 \pm 4.8$ NS Body Weight (kg)  $62.4 \pm 6.4$  $61.5 \pm 7.7$ NS Lower-Limb Length (cm)  $74.2 \pm 3.8$  $73.5 \pm 3.9$ NS

**Table 3.1 Participant characteristics** 

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

# 3.2.2 Procedures

In this chapter, a 3D motion analysis system and a Cortex software program (Motion Analysis Corporation, Santa Rosa, CA, USA) were used (the same systems were used in Chapter 2). Participants were required to wear clothes that were in firm contact with the skin. Thirty-one trajectory markers and the main segment of each participant's body, as described in Chapter 2, were used in this study.

### 3.2.3 Measurements

Participants were asked to walk barefoot on a flat surface for 10 meters at a speed that they selected for themselves. Participants were also instructed to practice walking barefoot before the measurements. Three self-selected speed measurements were recorded for each participant.

# 3.2.4 Gait parameters

Gait parameters described in Chapter 2 and KineAnalyzer software (Kissei Comtec, Nagano, Japan) were used to analyze the elderly Japanese men.

### 3.2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS version 21.0 for Windows (Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive results were presented as means and standard deviation. Unpaired *t*-test was performed to analyze the differences in

characteristics and gait parameters between elderly Japanese men and very elderly Japanese men. The effect size (Cohen's d) of parameters was calculated. The level of significance was set at 0.05.

# 3.3 Results

### 3.3.1 Participants

The age of the very elderly men (group 2) was significantly older than that of the elderly men (group 1) (p < 0.01). However, no significant differences were found for body height, body weight, and lower-limb length between groups (Table 3.1).

# 3.3.2 Basic gait parameters

The results of all basic gait parameters are presented in Table 3.2. Group 2 showed slower walking speeds and slower cadence than group 1 (p<0.05 and p<0.01). However, no significant differences were found in step length, stride length, ratio of step length to height, ratio of step length to lower-limb length, and walk ratio.

between elderly men and very elderly men						
Parameters	Group 1 (Elderly men)	Group 2 (Very elderly men)	p value	Effect size		
Walking speed <i>(m/min)</i>	73.9 ± 8.9	67.9 ± 10.1	<0.05	0.48		
Stride length (cm)	125.6 ± 11.5	122.2 ± 15.2	NS	0.25		
Step length (cm)	62.7 ± 5.8	61.1 ± 7.5	NS	0.24		
Ratio of step length to height	$0.38 \pm 0.03$	$0.37 \pm 0.04$	NS	0.28		
Ratio of step length to lower-limb length	0.85 ± 0.07	$0.83 \pm 0.09$	NS	0.25		
Cadence (steps/min)	117.6 ± 6.8	111.4 ± 7.8	<0.01	0.85		
Walk ratio	$0.53 \pm 0.05$	$0.55 \pm 0.07$	NS	0.33		

### Table 3.2. Comparison of the basic gait parameters

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

### 3.3.3 Gait cycle parameters

Table 3.3 shows the results of all gait cycle parameters. All gait cycle parameters were significantly different between the two groups (p < 0.05 and p < 0.01). Duration of the swing phase, duration of the stance phase, and duration of one gait cycle for group 2 were significantly greater than those for group 1 (p < 0.05 and p < 0.01). Moreover, the swing phase percentage and single support percentage for group 2 were significantly lower than those for Group 1 (p < 0.05); however, the percentage of the stance phase and the double support percentage for group 2 were significantly greater than those for Group 1 (p < 0.05);

Parameters	Group 1 (Elderly	Group 2 (Very elderly	p	Effect
	men)	men)	value	size
Duration of swing phase (sec)	$0.40 \pm 0.02$	$0.42 \pm 0.03$	< 0.05	0.78
Duration of stance phase (sec)	$0.62 \pm 0.05$	$0.66 \pm 0.05$	< 0.01	0.80
Duration of one gait cycle (sec)	1.02 ± 0.06	$1.08 \pm 0.08$	< 0.01	0.85
Swing phase percentage (%)	39.6 ± 1.4	38.7 ± 1.4	< 0.05	0.64
Stance phase percentage (%)	60.4 ± 1.4	61.3 ± 1.4	< 0.05	0.64
Single support percentage (%)	79.0 ± 2.6	77.4 ± 2.8	< 0.05	0.60
Double support percentage (%)	21.0 ± 2.6	22.6 ± 2.8	< 0.05	0.59
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				

#### Table 3.3. Comparison of the gait cycle parameters

between elderly men and very elderly men

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

### 3.3.4 Joint angle parameters

The results of all joint angle parameters are presented in Table 3.4. Significant differences were found only for peak extension timing at the hip joint and peak extension timing at the knee joint (p < 0.05). At the hip and knee joints, the peak extension timing of group 2 was significantly later compared with that of group 1 (p < 0.05). However, no significant differences between group 1 and group 2 were found for only for peak extension.

found for ankle joint parameters.

Parameters	Group 1 (Elderly men)	Group 2 (Very elderly men)	p value	Effec size
Hip Joint				
Peak extension angle (deg)	17.6 ± 5.8	18.8 ± 4.9	NS	0.22
Peak extension timing (%)	53.5 ± 1.1	54.3 ± 1.2	< 0.05	0.69
Peak flexion angle <i>(deg)</i>	-26.8 ± 5.3	$-24.6 \pm 4.8$	NS	0.47
Peak flexion timing (%)	88.0 ± 1.7	88.1 ± 2.1	NS	0.05
Maximal angle range (deg)	44.4 ± 4.1	43.5 ± 5.9	NS	0.18
Knee Joint				
Peak extension angle (deg)	171.5 ± 6.3	173.0 ± 6.2	NS	0.24
Peak extension timing (%)	40.3 ± 2.6	42.5 ± 4.1	< 0.05	0.64
First peak flexion angle (deg)	155.8 ± 7.1	157.0 ± 7.3	NS	0.17
First peak flexion timing (%)	13.0 ± 1.0	13.1 ± 2.0	NS	0.06
Second peak flexion angle (deg)	114.0 ± 7.1	116.5 ± 7.0	NS	0.35
Second peak flexion timing (%)	72.7 ± 2.3	73.1 ± 2.7	NS	0.16
Maximal angle range <i>(deg)</i>	57.5 ± 4.1	58.7 ± 5.0	NS	0.26
Ankle Joint				
First peak plantarflexion angle (deg)	103.0 ± 3.0	103.3 ± 3.2	NS	0.97
First peak plantarflexion timing (%)	5.8 ± 1.2	5.5 ± 1.1	NS	0.26
Second peak plantarflexion angle (deg)	111.0 ± 4.8	108.4 ± 6.1	NS	0.47
Second peak plantarflexion timing (%)	64.7 ± 1.7	65.4 ± 2.7	NS	0.31
First peak dorsiflexion angle (deg)	86.0 ± 3.3	85.2 ± 4.6	NS	0.20
First peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	45.2 ± 5.0	45.8 ± 5.8	NS	0.11
Second peak dorsiflexion angle (deg)	94.9 ± 3.3	93.0 ± 4.7	NS	0.47
Second peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	84.9 ± 2.6	84.2 ± 2.5	NS	0.27
Maximal angle range (deg)	25.0 ± 3.8	23.2 ± 3.6	NS	0.49

# Table 3.4. Comparison of the joint angle parameters

between elderly men and very elderly men

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

### 3.3.5 Angular velocity parameters

Table 3.5 shows the results of all angular velocity parameters. In this study, significant differences were only found for the first and second peaks of the plantarflexion angular velocity at the ankle joint (p < 0.05). The first peak plantarflexion angular velocity for Group 2 was significantly lower compared with that for Group 1 (p < 0.05), and the second peak plantarflexion angular velocity for Group 2 was significant plantarflexion angular velocity for Group 2 was plantarflexion angular velocity for Group 2 was significantly lower compared with that for Group 1 (p < 0.05), and the second peak plantarflexion angular velocity for Group 2 was significantly greater compared with that for Group 1 (p < 0.05). However, no significant differences were found for other angular velocity parameters of the hip and knee joints.
Parameters	Group 1 (Elderly men)	Group 2 (Very elderly men)	p value	Effect size	
Hip Joint					
First peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	126.7 ± 18.9	117.4 ± 20.8	NS	0.47	
First peak extension timing (%)	22.2 ± 3.4	21.9 ± 5.7	NS	0.64	
Second peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	42.4 ± 18.7	36.0 ± 15.7	NS	0.37	
Second peak extension timing (%)	93.2 ± 1.4	92.8 ± 2.0	NS	0.23	
Peak flexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-211.8 ± 28.1	-195.3 ± 27.4	NS	0.59	
Peak flexion timing (%)	65.2 ± 1.4	65.8 ± 1.5	NS	0.41	
Knee Joint					
First peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	91.9 ± 23.5	82.8 ± 28.6	NS	0.35	
First peak extension timing (%)	23.9 ± 2.6	23.4 ± 4.2	NS	0.14	
Second peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	386.6 ± 49.4	374.9 ± 54.7	NS	0.22	
Second peak extension timing (%)	89.0 ± 2.5	89.4 ± 1.1	NS	0.20	
First peak flexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-183.0 ± 44.8	-190.6 ± 49.0	NS	0.16	
First peak flexion timing (%)	5.2 ± 1.0	$5.0 \pm 0.9$	NS	0.21	
Second peak flexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-379.1 ± 42.2	-355.0 ± 44.9	NS	0.55	
Second peak flexion timing (%)	62.1 ± 1.6	63.0 ± 3.3	NS	0.35	
Ankle Joint					
First peak plantarflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	257.0 ± 34.4	235.6 ± 34.8	<0.05	0.87	
First peak plantarflexion timing (%)	57.8 ± 1.8	58.3 ± 2.3	NS	0.24	
Second peak plantarflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	58.9 ± 24.3	76.7 ± 25.7	<0.05	0.71	
Second peak plantarflexion timing (%)	91.6 ± 3.3	91.1 ± 2.1	NS	0.18	
First peak dorsiflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-95.8 ± 16.9	-96.7 ± 21.6	NS	0.05	
First peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	12.1 ± 4.0	12.9 ± 5.1	NS	0.17	
Second peak dorsiflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-125.7 ± 33.4	-120.1 ± 19.7	NS	0.20	
Second peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	71.6 ± 2.0	72.4 ± 2.1	NS	0.39	

## Table 3.5. Comparison of the angular velocity parameters

## between elderly men and very elderly men

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

# 3.4 Discussion

## 3.4.1 Basic gait parameters

The present study investigated the effect of aging on gait parameters in elderly Japanese men. Slower walking speeds and slower cadence were observed in very elderly men when compared with elderly men. Slower walking speed and changes in the cadence of elderly participants have been found in many previous studies of gait motion (Andriacchi et al. 1977; Kirtley et al. 1985; Friedman 1988; Prince et al. 1997; Watelain et al. 2000; Cho et al. 2004; Anderson and Madigan 2014; Jerome et al. 2015). In this study, slower walking speed was primarily affected by slower cadence and shorter stride length of very elderly men, although no significant differences were found in stride length between the two groups. Additionally, this finding is similar to that reported by Winter et al. (1990); gait in the elderly can be characterized by reduced walking speed, decreased cadence, and shorter stride length.

#### 3.4.2 Gait cycle parameters

Furthermore, significant results were also found for the single support percentage and the double support percentage between elderly men and very

elderly men. The very elderly men showed a lower single support percentage and greater double support percentage compared with elderly men. The single support phase was related to the swing phase of the other limb (Ayyappa 1997), whereas the double support phase included the duration of both feet making contact with the floor (Demura et al. 2012). The body's center of mass moves forward from the supporting limb and toward the anticipated landing position of the swing limb (Frank and Patla 2003). The body is in an inherent state of instability during single limb support (Prince et al. 1997), and elderly people reduce the concentric energy output of trunk muscles to minimize the energy transferred to the trunk due to less stability during the single support phase (McGibbon and Krebs 2001). A lower single support percentage might be apparent in very elderly men because of instability during single limb support. In addition, the lower single support percentage was also affected by the longer duration of the stance phase in very elderly men throughout the gait cycle. However, very elderly men showed a greater percentage during the double support phase compared with elderly men. Increased double limb support occurs with gait alteration in elderly people (Alexander 1996; Liu et al. 2006). In addition, McGibbon and Krebs (2001) showed that during the double support phase, elderly people rely more on eccentric control of low-back muscles to regulate energy transfer during the double limb support phase. Additionally, in this study, very elderly men also showed shorter swing phase duration compared with elderly men. Therefore, the greater percentage of the double support phase in the present study indicated that very elderly men spent more time with both feet on the floor than did elderly men to maintain their walking stability after complete swing limb advancement.

## 3.4.3 Joint angle parameters

The peak value and peak timing of joint angle parameters for elderly Japanese men were investigated to develop an understanding of their gait characteristics. This study showed no significant differences in the peak values of any joint angle in elderly and very elderly men. Furthermore, significant differences were only found for peak timings of joint angle parameters, namely peak extension timing at the hip and knee joint.

When analyzing the timing of joint angles, it was noted that delayed peak timing began at approximately 40% of the gait cycle. At the hip joint, peak extension timing in very elderly men was delayed when compared to that of elderly men, and it occurred during the terminal stance phase (31% to 50% of the gait cycle) when the hip joint transferred from a flexed to an extended position. At the knee joint, peak timing occurred during the terminal stance phase (31% to 50% of the gait cycle), whereas peak timing at the hip joint occurred during the pre-swing phase (50% to 62% of the gait cycle) when the joints transferred their position from flexed to extended.

The terminal stance phase begins with heel rise and continues until the other foot strikes the ground (Perry and Burnfield 2010). During this phase, the body is propelled forward until the pre-swing is started (Rueterbories et al. 2010). Generally, the knee joint dynamics are associated with the neuromuscular activation pattern during walking, such as lower range of motion in the knee or moderate levels of knee osteoarthritis (Mundermann et al. 2005; Astephen Wilson et al. 2011). Furthermore, knee extension strength decreased during the stance phase, and elderly people also reduced their ankle plantarflexion to maintain greater foot–floor contact during the terminal stance phase as a result of the change in dynamic stiffness during walking (Kerrigan et al. 1998). Elderly people made more intentional efforts to achieve more propulsion energy for forceful joint extension. Moreover, the knee adduction moment during the terminal stance

phase contributed to the change in the medial-to-lateral distribution of proximal tibial bone mineral density, and variability of knee joint movements during the terminal stance phase is one of the essential parameters during walking (Thorp et al. 2006). In addition, muscle activities during the terminal stance phase such as of the tibialis anterior, bicep femoris, medial hamstring, and vastus lateralis decreased as gait speed decreased (Schmitz et al. 2009). Therefore, delayed peak timing during knee joint extension during the terminal stance phase in the present study might have been affected by the very elderly men making more of an effort to transfer the knee joint from the flexed position to the extended position due to decreased knee extension strength, less bone mineral density, and decreased muscle power during the terminal stance phase. Additionally, delayed peak timing during this phase is also affected by slow walking speed in very elderly men compared with elderly men.

Delayed peak joint angle timing was also detected during the pre-swing phase (50% to 62% of the gait cycle). During this phase, delayed timing was noted when the hip joint transferred from the flexed to the extended position. As previously discussed in Chapter 2, delayed peak joint angle timing at the hip joint during this phase might be a reflection of the extra effort required to change the hip joint

position, poor hip flexor power for push-off, and reduction in the range of extension.

For elderly Japanese men, the delayed peak timing might also be affected by delayed peak timing during the previous gait phase. However, delayed peak timing did not appear until approximately 64% of the gait cycle (Fig. 3.1). Therefore, as previously discussed in Chapter 2, the observed delayed peak timing would be mainly reflected by the unique joint angle behavior during the gait phase in very elderly men.

#### 3.4.4 Angular velocity parameters

In Chapter 2, significant differences were found only during peak timing of angular velocity parameters of elderly and very elderly women. The findings of the present study show the significant differences for elderly Japanese men, particularly the peak values of angular velocity at the ankle joint. Some previous studies have indicated several essential findings regarding angular velocity in the gait of the elderly (Mills and Barrett 2001; Van Iersel et al. 2007; Silder et al. 2008; Leung et al. 2014). For instance, Van Iersel et al. (2007) showed that an increased value in angular velocity was associated with an increased risk of falling. However, Mills and Barrett (2001) found no significant differences in the peak value of angular velocity between younger and older adults due to the low variability in the preferred gait velocity and stride length. Therefore, this study extends the previous studies by combining the understanding of the peak value of angular velocity and the phase of the gait cycle when the peak value of each joint occurs, although no significant differences were found in peak timing parameters.

The present study shows that the first peak plantarflexion angular velocity at the ankle joint of very elderly men is significantly lower compared with elderly men, as detected during the pre-swing phase. The pre-swing phase is a very complex part of the gait cycle for the ankle joint because the ankle movements are related to progression and body weight is rapidly transferred from the trailing limb to the forward limb (Perry and Burnfield 2010). The plantar flexors have a crucial role in mobility, whereas the triceps surae muscle architecture and Achilles tendon stiffness are associated with better mobility performance (Stenroth et al. 2015). Less power in the ankle plantar flexor affects the reduction of the walking speed (Norris et al. 2007), and older adults showed decreased plantarflexion muscle force due to less strength and ankle plasticity (Hortobágyi et al. 2016). Additionally, elderly people showed less isometric strength in ankle plantarflexion

(Graham et al. 2015), and variability in ankle plantarflexion affects gait velocity, step length, and cadence in healthy elderly individuals (Leung et al. 2014). Therefore, lower peak plantarflexion angular velocity at the ankle joint might be affected by less ankle plantar flexor power and the reduction in plantarflexion muscle activity during the pre-swing phase. In addition, lower peak plantarflexion angular velocity is strongly affected by slower cadence in very elderly men compared with elderly men.

However, second peak plantarflexion angular velocity at the ankle joint of very elderly men was greater compared with that of elderly men. This peak value occurred during the terminal swing phase and is known as the final phase during one gait cycle. During this phase, pretibial muscle action increases to ensure that the ankle will be neutral for optimum heel contact during the next phase (Perry and Burnfield 2010). Endo and Herr (2014) simulated ankle mechanical impedance in humans with time-varying ankle parameters. Their findings showed that the tibialis anterior increased during the terminal swing phase before heelstrike and that increased impedance before heel-stride may prepare the body for shock absorption before entering the loading response phase. In addition, the ankle joint is an essential joint for propulsion and shock absorption at the

maximum plantarflexion moment (Lee et al. 2013)

Accordingly, greater peak plantarflexion angular velocity in very elderly men might be affected by the increased muscle power for shock absorption during the terminal swing phase and by the effort to transfer the ankle joint from the dorsiflexed to the plantarflexed position.



Figure 3.1 The peak timing of joint angle and angular velocity parameters

## 3.4.4 Implications, limitations, and future research

The novel aspect in this study is the detailed investigation of both the joint

angle and angular velocity to provide a new understanding of peak value and peak timing parameters. Peak value and peak timing in the joint angle and angular velocity are gait parameters that strongly affect walking motion upon aging in elderly Japanese men. One limitation of this study is that the comparison is limited to elderly men. The results might have been different if the participants were elderly women and elderly men. Therefore, it would be very useful to evaluate gait differences between elderly Japanese women and men during future research.

## 3.5 Conclusion

The results of the present study show the differences in some gait parameters (basic gait, gait cycle, joint angle, and angular velocity) between elderly men and very elderly men. Peak timing of joint angle parameters and peak value of angular velocity parameters could be reliable parameters for reflecting the walking motion upon aging in elderly Japanese men. Chapter 4

Sex-specific differences in walking motion for

healthy, elderly Japanese individuals

# 4.1 Introduction

Chapter 3 compared two subcategories of elderly Japanese men. Very elderly men had slower walking speed, slower cadence, longer duration of one gait cycle, lower single support percentages, and higher double support percentages. In addition, very elderly men showed delayed peak timing of the joint angle and angular velocity at the hip and knee joint. New gait parameters were proposed in Chapters 2 and 3, namely the peak values and temporal relationship of these peaks with the gait cycle at the hip and knee joints. These new parameters could be useful as a means of identifying and monitoring parameters that are reflective of walking ability in an elderly population. The findings of Chapters 2 and 3 also suggest that assessment of gait characteristics is essential to prevent deterioration of walking ability with advanced age.

In addition to aging factors, walking ability is also influenced by the differences between sexes (Whittle 2007). In general, men have larger bone areas than women, which is consistent with their larger body size (Riggs et al. 2004), and differences in skeletal dimensions lead to differences in walking patterns (Cho et al. 2004). Furthermore, the ability to support the body with one leg decreased with advanced age; older women stepped with the inferior leg muscle due to deterioration in body mass (Demura et al. 2008). In addition, differences in other physical factors between men and women could contribute to specific walking patterns (Hachisuka et al. 1998; Daigle 2003; Chung and Wang 2010). Accordingly, investigations regarding sex-specific differences in gait parameters

could provide new insight for characterizing gait in an elderly population.

Prior studies have addressed the differences in gait characteristics between men and women, but these studies compared only young and middle-aged/older adults (Cho et al. 2004; Chiu and Wang 2007; Mazzà et al. 2009; Ko et al. 2010; Bruening et al. 2015; El-Ashker et al. 2015). For instance, Cho et al. (2004) and Ko et al. (2011) indicated that younger and older women tend to walk with shorter stride lengths and slower walking speeds than men due to the shorter heights of women. Bruening et al. (2015) also found that adult women walked with greater pelvic transverse plane and torso rotation. Cho et al. (2004) reported that stance durations and double support phases were not different between younger men and women. Few studies have addressed differences in gait characteristics according to sex-specific differences in elderly people. However, those that did used middle-aged and elderly people to classify these differences (Boyer et al. 2008; Ko et al. 2011). Elderly participants with disabilities in physical function and participants with a history of lower-limb arthritis and Parkinson disease were involved in such studies (Hachisuka et al. 1998; Callisaya et al. 2008), and gait parameters were limited only to spatial-temporal parameters (Callisaya et al. 2008). Accordingly, it is necessary to extend prior investigations regarding sexspecific differences in gait with advanced age by including new peak values and timing parameters observed in Chapters 2 and 3.

The present study aimed to investigate differences in gait parameters according to sex in healthy, elderly Japanese individuals and to identify specific gait characteristics of elderly men and women.

# 4.2 Material and methods

#### 4.2.1 Participants

Data were collected from 102 elderly Japanese individuals and divided into two categories: elderly men (53 individuals) and elderly women (49 individuals). Participant characteristics are detailed in Table 4.1. Before the measurements, all participants were screened using a medical questionnaire (same as used in Chapters 2 and 3). This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Design at Kyushu University and written consent was obtained.

	Elderly men	Elderly women	<i>p</i> value
Age <i>(years)</i>	72.8 ± 4.1	73.5 ± 4.7	NS
Body Height (cm)	164.3 ± 5.2	151.0 ± 5.7	< 0.01
Body Weight (kg)	62.1 ± 6.9	49.7 ± 8.1	< 0.01
Lower-Limb Length (cm)	74.0 ± 3.8	68.5 ± 3.5	< 0.01

**Table 4.1 Participant characteristics** 

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

## 4.2.2 Procedures

A 3D motion analysis system (same system used in Chapter 2) and a Cortex software program (Motion Analysis Corporation, Santa Rosa, CA, USA) were used. Participants were required to wear clothes that were in firm contact with the skin. Thirty-three trajectory markers and the main segment of each participant's body were the same as that used in Chapters 2 and 3.

#### 4.2.3 Measurements

Participants were asked to walk barefoot on a flat surface for 10 meters at a speed that they selected themselves. Participants were also instructed to practice walking barefoot before the measurements. Three self-selected speed measurements were recorded for each participant.

#### 4.2.4 Gait Parameters

Gait parameters used in Chapters 2 and 3 and KineAnalyzer software (Kissei Comtec, Nagano, Japan) were used to analyze the differences between elderly women and men.

#### 4.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS version 21.0 for Windows (Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive results are presented as means and standard deviation. Unpaired *t*-test was performed to analyze the differences in participant characteristics and gait parameters of elderly women and elderly men. The effect size (Cohen's d) of parameters was calculated. The level of significance was set at 0.05.

# 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Participants

In this study, body height, body weight, and lower-limb length of elderly men were significantly greater than that of elderly women (p < 0.01). However, no significant differences based on age were found between sexes (Table 4.1).

#### 4.3.2 Basic gait parameters

Basic gait parameters for elderly men and women are presented in Table 4.2. Elderly women had significantly shorter stride (p < 0.05) and step lengths, faster cadence, and lower walk ratio (all p < 0.01) than that observed for elderly men. However, no significant differences were found in walking speed, ratio of step length to height, or ratio of step length to lower-limb length.

Parameters	Elderlymen		р	Effect
	Elderly men	Elderly women	value	size
Walking speed (m/min)	71.6 ± 9.7	72.8 ± 9.8	NS	0.12
Stride length (cm)	124.3 ± 13.0	118.3 ± 11.1	< 0.05	0.50
Step length (cm)	62.1 ± 6.4	$58.9 \pm 5.5$	< 0.01	0.54
Ratio of step length to height	$0.38 \pm 0.04$	$0.39 \pm 0.04$	NS	0.25
Ratio of step length to lower-limb length	$0.84 \pm 0.08$	$0.86 \pm 0.08$	NS	0.25
Cadence (steps/min)	115.3 ± 7.7	123.2 ± 9.7	< 0.01	0.90
Walk ratio	$0.54 \pm 0.06$	$0.48 \pm 0.05$	< 0.01	1.09

Table 4.2. Comparison of the basic gait parametersbetween elderly men and women

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

#### 4.3.3 Gait cycle parameters

A comparison of gait cycle parameters between elderly men and women is presented in Table 4.3. Significant differences were observed in the duration of the swing phase, duration of the stance phase, and duration of one gait cycle (all p < 0.01). Duration for elderly women was significantly less than that for elderly men. However, there were no significant differences observed between elderly men and women regarding the swing phase percentage, stance phase percentage, single support percentage, or double support percentage.

			р	Effect
Parameters	Elderly men	Elderly women	value	size
Duration of swing phase (sec)	0.41 ± 0.02	$0.38 \pm 0.02$	< 0.01	0.50
Duration of stance phase (sec)	$0.64 \pm 0.05$	$0.60 \pm 0.06$	< 0.01	0.72
Duration of one gait cycle (sec)	$1.05 \pm 0.07$	$0.98 \pm 0.08$	< 0.01	1.06
Swing phase percentage (%)	39.2 ± 1.4	39.1 ± 1.3	NS	0.07
Stance phase percentage (%)	60.8 ± 1.4	60.9 ± 1.3	NS	0.07
Single support percentage (%)	78.4 ± 2.8	78.1 ± 2.5	NS	0.11
Double support percentage (%)	21.6 ± 2.8	21.9 ± 2.5	NS	0.11

 Table 4.3. Comparison of the gait cycle parameters

 between elderly men and women

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

#### 4.3.4 Joint angle parameters

Table 4.4 shows the results of all joint angle parameters. At the hip joint, the peak extension timing for elderly women was significantly later than that observed for elderly men (p < 0.01), and the maximal angle range for elderly women was greater than that for elderly men (p < 0.05). At the knee joint, the second peak

flexion timing of elderly women was also significantly later than that of elderly men (p < 0.05). At the ankle joint, the first peak dorsiflexion timing for elderly women was significantly earlier than that for elderly men (p < 0.01), and the second peak dorsiflexion angle for elderly women was smaller than that for elderly men (p < 0.05). The maximal angle range for elderly women was significantly greater than that for men (p < 0.01).

	Elderly	Elderly		Effect
Parameters	men	women	<i>p</i> value	size
Hip Joint				
Peak extension angle (deg)	18.1 ± 5.5	19.0 ± 4.3	NS	0.18
Peak extension timing (%)	53.8 ± 1.2	54.5 ± 1.1	< 0.01	0.60
Peak flexion angle <i>(deg)</i>	-26.0 ± 5.2	-27.3 ± 2.5	NS	0.31
Peak flexion timing (%)	88.0 ± 1.8	88.4 ± 1.7	NS	0.23
Maximal angle range (deg)	44.1 ± 4.8	46.3 ± 4.0	< 0.05	0.50
Knee Joint				
Peak extension angle (deg)	172.1 ± 6.2	171.2 ± 5.6	NS	0.15
Peak extension timing (%)	41.1 ± 3.4	41.3 ± 3.4	NS	0.06
First peak flexion angle (deg)	156.3 ± 7.1	157.0 ± 5.3	NS	0.11
First peak flexion timing (%)	13.1 ± 1.4	13.3 ± 1.4	NS	0.14
Second peak flexion angle (deg)	115.0 ± 7.1	114.7 ± 4.9	NS	0.50
Second peak flexion timing (%)	72.9 ± 2.4	73.7 ± 1.1	< 0.05	0.54
Maximal angle range (deg)	57.9 ± 4.5	56.5 ± 4.8	NS	0.30
Ankle Joint				
First peak plantarflexion angle (deg)	103.1 ± 3.0	102.1 ± 4.3	NS	0.27
First peak plantarflexion timing (%)	5.7 ± 1.2	5.7 ± 1.3	NS	0.00
Second peak plantarflexion angle (deg)	110.0 ± 5.4	111.5 ± 5.9	NS	0.26
Second peak plantarflexion timing (%)	64.9 ± 2.1	64.3 ± 1.6	NS	0.32
First peak dorsiflexion angle (deg)	85.7 ± 3.8	84.5 ± 4.0	NS	0.30
First peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	45.5 ± 5.3	42.2 ± 4.7	< 0.01	0.66
Second peak dorsiflexion angle (deg)	94.2 ± 4.0	92.1 ± 4.3	< 0.05	0.50
Second peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	84.7 ± 2.6	84.1 ± 2.2	NS	0.25
Maximal angle range (deg)	24.3 ± 3.8	27.0 ± 4.1	< 0.01	0.68

## Table 4.4. Comparison of the joint angle parameters

between elderly men and women

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

# 4.3.5 Angular velocity parameters

Table 4.5 shows the results of all angular velocity parameters. At the hip joint, the first peak extension and peak flexion angular velocities for elderly women

were significantly greater than those for elderly men, and the peak flexion timing for elderly women was significantly later than that for elderly men (all p < 0.01). Similarly, at the knee joint, the first peak flexion timing for elderly women was significantly later than that for elderly men (p < 0.05). Finally, at the ankle joint, significant differences were only found in the peak value of angular velocity parameters, the first and second peaks of plantarflexion angular velocities, and the first and second peaks of dorsiflexion angular velocities; however, the angular velocities for elderly women were greater than those for elderly men (all p < 0.01).

Deremetore	Elderly	Elderly	p	Effect
Parameters	men	women	value	size
Hip Joint				
First peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	123.2 ± 20.0	135.7 ± 25.2	< 0.01	0.50
First peak extension timing (%)	22.1 ± 4.4	20.8 ± 3.1	NS	0.34
Second peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	40.0 ± 17.8	42.5 ± 20.0	NS	0.13
Second peak extension timing (%)	93.0 ± 1.7	93.8 ± 2.6	NS	0.36
Peak flexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-205.5 ± 28.7	-230.4 ± 33.5	< 0.01	0.80
Peak flexion timing (%)	65.4 ± 1.5	67.1 ± 1.6	< 0.01	1.10
Knee Joint				
First peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	88.5 ± 25.7	92.1 ± 28.1	NS	0.13
First peak extension timing (%)	23.7 ± 3.3	23.6 ± 3.4	NS	0.30
Second peak extension angular velocity (deg/s)	382.2 ± 51.3	394.2 ± 53.4	NS	0.23
Second peak extension timing (%)	89.2 ± 2.1	88.8 ± 1.2	NS	0.23
First peak flexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-185.8 ± 46.1	-169.2 ± 45.0	NS	0.36
First peak flexion timing (%)	5.1 ± 1.0	5.9 ± 1.3	< 0.01	0.69
Second peak flexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-370.0 ± 44.4	-391.5 ± 52.1	< 0.05	0.44
Second peak flexion timing (%)	62.4 ± 2.4	62.6 ± 1.4	NS	0.10
Ankle Joint				
First peak plantarflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	248.9 ± 35.8	271.2 ± 44.0	< 0.01	0.55
First peak plantarflexion timing (%)	58.0 ± 2.0	57.8 ± 1.9	NS	010
Second peak plantarflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	65.6 ± 26.1	84.0 ± 27.9	< 0.01	0.68
Second peak plantarflexion timing (%)	91.4 ± 2.9	92.0 ± 2.6	NS	0.22
First peak dorsiflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-96.1 ± 18.6	-108.5 ± 20.9	< 0.01	0.63
First peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	12.4 ± 4.4	11.7 ± 1.8	NS	0.21
Second peak dorsiflexion angular velocity (deg/s)	-123.6 ± 28.9	-165.0 ± 45.7	< 0.01	1.08
Second peak dorsiflexion timing (%)	71.9 ± 2.1	71.8 ± 2.8	NS	0.04

# Table 4.5. Comparison of the angular velocity parametersbetween elderly men and women

NS: Not significant. All values are presented as mean +/- standard deviation.

# 4.4 Discussion

#### 4.4.1 Basic gait parameters

In the present study, shorter stride and step lengths were observed for elderly women than for elderly men. These findings are consistent with previous studies of sex-specific differences in basic gait parameters, indicating that young or older women had shorter step/stride lengths than their male counterparts (Cho et al. 2004; Callisaya et al. 2008; Ko et al. 2011; Frimenko and Whitehead 2014; Bruening et al. 2015). For instance, Cho et al. (2004), Ko et al. (2011), and Bruening et al. (2015) reported that short step/stride length for younger and older women can be directly related to their anthropometric differences (such as short body height or leg length). Moreover, Frimenko and Whitehead (2014) defined step length as generally height-dependent. Accordingly, the differences in anthropometric characteristics, such as body height, lower-limb length, and ratio of step length to height, may cause short stride and step lengths in elderly women, although there were no significant differences in the ratio of step length to height.

Other notable findings in this study are that elderly women showed faster cadence and a lower walk ratio than did elderly men. Irrespective of age, sexspecific differences for cadence have been reported by many previous studies indicating that younger or older women walked with a faster cadence than their male counterparts (Cho et al. 2004; Callisaya et al. 2008; Boyer et al. 2008; Ko et al. 2011; Frimenko and Whitehead 2014; Bruening et al. 2015). As previously reported (Ko et al. 2011; Bruening et al. 2015; Di Nardo et al. 2015), young women walked with a faster cadence to walk at a similar speed as men and also to compensate for their shorter body height, as described in the previous paragraph. Therefore, it could be that faster cadence is a general phenomenon in the majority of women. Accordingly, faster cadence in elderly women might not be a sex-specific difference for gait with advanced age.

Furthermore, elderly women also showed a lower walk ratio than did elderly men. In contrast, Sekiya and Nagasaki (1998) reported that walk ratio did not differ between younger men and women. Crosbie et al. (1997) reported that gait variability in the elderly is more likely to be step length–dependent; however, this phenomenon is not imperceptible with respect to sex-specific differences. Terrier and Reynard (2015) reported no sex-specific differences in walk ratio among younger and middle-aged groups. Importantly, walking patterns of elderly individuals could be characterized by a consistent decrease in the walk ratio due to shorter step lengths (Sekiya and Nagasaki 1998). In addition, as previously discussed in Chapter 2, aging causes gait behavior to change from a step length– dependent pattern to a cadence-dependent pattern in elderly women. Accordingly, sex-specific differences in the walk ratio could be considered unusual for elderly individuals.

#### 4.4.2 Gait cycle parameters

When analyzing the complete gait cycle, it was observed that elderly women exhibit shorter durations during the swing phase, stance phase, and one gait cycle than elderly men; this is mainly caused by the faster cadence of elderly women. However, there were no significant differences in swing and stance percentages or in single support and double support percentages. These findings are similar to those reported by Cho et al. (2004) and Ko et al. (2011), who indicated that younger and older women had a faster cadence than did men, which led to the shorter stance phase and duration of the gait cycle.

#### 4.4.3 Joint angle parameters

For joint angle parameters, sex-specific differences in the peak angle joint were only found at the ankle joint, namely the second peak dorsiflexion angle. Interestingly, with respect to peak timing parameters, sex-specific differences were found for all leg joints. Delayed peak timing occurs at approximately 53%, 73%, and 42% of the gait cycle, namely during the pre-swing, initial swing, and terminal stance phases at the hip, knee, and ankle joints, respectively.

In this study, elderly women exhibited a greater hip maximal angle range than elderly men. In contrast, this difference did not appear among younger and adult individuals (Kernozek et al. 2007; Bruening et al. 2015). As reported (Boyer et al. 2008; Cho et al. 2004), among younger individuals, women had greater external hip extension and hip joint flexion than did men due to the greater anterior pelvic tilt. The internal rotation for adult women also increased, which was related to their wider pelvis and greater femoral anteversion than adult men (Kernozek et al. 2007; Bruening et al. 2015). Thus, the greater maximal angle range at the hip joint of elderly women could be one gait characteristic specific to sex irrespective of age.

At the same joint, elderly women exhibited delayed peak extension timing during the pre-swing phase (50% to 62% of gait cycle) when the hip joint

transferred from flexion to extension. As previously discussed in Chapter 2, delayed peak timing observed during the pre-swing phase at the hip joint in elderly women might be due to the extra effort to change the hip joint position, poor hip flexor power for push-off, and the reduction in the range of extension. In addition, older women with a wide range of ages showed concentric effort of the hip flexor muscles during the pre-swing phase (Alcock et al. 2013). Accordingly, sex-specific differences in peak extension timing at the hip joint are unusual during old age.

At the knee joint, elderly women showed delayed peak flexion timing during the initial swing phase (62% to 75% of the gait cycle). This peak timing occurred when the knee movement was transferred from extension to flexion. Generally, gait variability was associated with muscle strength at the knee joint (Roppolo et al. 2012), whereas knee flexion was essential for lifting the foot for swing limb advancement and for facilitating foot clearance during the initial swing phase (Nene et al. 1999). Sex-specific differences were found in knee movement, as shown in the longer knee flexion of older women as a result of the early onset of knee flexion (Ko et al. 2011). Therefore, delay in the second peak flexion timing of the knee joint in elderly women might be a reflection of the extra effort to change the knee joint position, deterioration of muscle strength in elderly women, and early onset of knee flexion.

Finally, at the ankle joint, elderly women exhibit a significantly greater maximal angle range than do elderly men. Several studies of sex-specific differences have discussed that younger, adult, and older women have a greater ankle range of motion (ROM) than men (Decker et al. 2003; Kernozek et al. 2007; Boyer et al.

2008; Ko et al. 2011; Frimenko and Whitehead 2014; Bruening et al. 2015). For instance, Ko et al. (2011) reported that older women rely more on ankle angular motion during walking. Younger women also exhibit greater ankle ROM for absorbing energy of the ground, reducing the overall load transmitted to the knee, and maintaining the effectiveness of knee kinematics (Kernozek et al. 2007; Bruening et al. 2015). Accordingly, it can be suggested that a greater maximal angle range in elderly women might be a reflection of several factors. Importantly, this phenomenon is also indicated among younger and older individuals; therefore, sex-specific differences in ankle maximal angle range could not be categorized as a unique gait characteristic of elderly men and women.

#### 4.4.4 Angular velocity parameters

Regarding angular velocity parameters, peak angular velocities in all joints had greater values in elderly women than in elderly men. These greater peak values are likely to be an instinctive effect due to the faster cadence of elderly women during walking. The joint angular velocity is associated with the dynamics of muscle activities, cadence, and velocity of forward progression (Granata et al. 2000). Faster cadence requires various muscle activities in the lower extremities (Shono et al. 2007). In addition, faster cadence coupled with greater mechanical energy absorption at the leg joints would affect the dynamics of muscle activities during walking (Ko et al. 2011). According to Granata et al. (2000), Shono et al. (2007), and Ko et al. (2011), faster cadence in elderly women caused greater peak angular velocities than in elderly men, which indicated greater muscle activities in the lower extremities and greater mechanical energy absorption

during walking.

The delayed timing of the peak flexion angular velocity occurred during the loading response phase (2% to 12% of the gait cycle) when the knee joint movement transferred from extension to flexion. During this phase, the knee flexion position serves as a shock absorber while also maintaining stability during walking (Perry and Burnfield 2010). Furthermore, knee flexion was also a strategy for the soft landing technique throughout one gait cycle (Devita and Skelly 1992). Among younger individuals, women seemed to put forth more effort for knee joint movement and indicated less impact on the ground due to less contraction of the knee flexor compared to their male counterparts (Cho et al. 2004). Accordingly, it can be suggested that delays in the timing of the peak flexion angular velocity at the knee joint might be related to the extra effort to transfer the knee joint and used as a strategy for the soft landing technique.

Other notable delayed peak timing was also found for peak flexion angular velocity at the hip joint. This peak value occurred during the initial swing phase (62% to 75% of the gait cycle). In general, older women had greater anterior pelvic tilt (Boyer et al. 2008) and walked with greater adduction angles at the hip (Cho et al. 2004). In addition, adult women also exhibited greater hip adduction angular velocity due to more frontal negative work of the hip (Ferber et al. 2003). Therefore, the differences in peak flexion timing at the hip joint between elderly men and women are considered to be related to these aforementioned factors.

#### 4.4.5 Implications, limitations, and future research

To our knowledge, differences according to sex in gait parameters related to

the peak timing of each joint angle and angular velocity have not been previously investigated. These current findings may be useful to enhance the understanding of differences according to sex in gait characteristics, especially with respect to an elderly population. One potential limitation of the present study is that angular acceleration parameters were not observed. Therefore, further investigation should consider peak angular acceleration and its peak timing at the hip, knee, and ankle joints.

## 4.5 Conclusions

This study investigated differences according to sex in gait characteristics between elderly Japanese men and women. A number of parameters (stride/step length, cadence, walk ratio, duration of one gait cycle, hip and ankle maximal angle ranges, and peak value and its timing for joint angles and angular velocity) showed significant differences between elderly men and elderly women. It can be concluded that sex-specific differences such as lower walk ratio, greater hip maximal angle range, delayed peak extension timing at the hip joint, and delayed second peak flexion timing at the knee joint are unusual for elderly individuals. Additionally, specific gait motions in elderly women also could be identified using delayed peak timing of the peak flexion angular velocities at the hip and knee joints throughout one gait cycle. Chapter 5

**General discussions** 

## 5.1 Summary

The objectives of this dissertation were to investigate the effect of aging on gait parameters in Japanese elderly, to clarify whether age-related changes of gait characteristics are consistent and continue with advanced age when subcategorizing according to early and late elderly, and to investigate sex differences in gait characteristics between elderly Japanese men and women.

The first study (Chapter 2) identified the parameters that were reflective of gait characteristics in the elderly Japanese women. The elderly Japanese women were classified in two subcategories, namely elderly and very elderly, in order to represent the elderly at early and late age. The findings of this study highlighted that the very elderly women indicated a cadence-dependent walking pattern and showed delayed timings of the peak joint angles that begun at approximately 54% of the gait cycle at the hip joint. During pre-swing, initial swing, and terminal swing phases, very elderly women showed several delayed timings of the peak angle and peak angular velocity compared to elderly women. These delayed timings occurred at the hip, knee, and the ankle joints.

The second study (Chapter 3) was an extension of the study presented in Chapter 2 and investigated the reliable gait parameters to represent the walking motion among elderly Japanese men. The specific gait characteristics of the very elderly men were the slower walking speed, smaller cadence, delayed peak timing at the hip and knee joint, smaller first peak plantar flexion angular velocity, and greater second peak plantar flexion angular velocity at the ankle joint.

In the third study (Chapter 4), an investigation of sex-specific differences in gait parameters of Japanese elderly were conducted to identify the specific gait characteristics in elderly men and women. This study found that sex-specific differences in walk ratio, the maximal hip angle range, peak extension timing at the hip joint, and second peak flexion timing at the knee joint were peculiar to the elderly individuals.

# 5.2 General discussions

## 5.2.1 Gait characteristics in advanced age

The main goal of this dissertation was to provide new insight of age-related changes in walking motion in elderly Japanese women and men. Separately,

Chapter 2 and 3 investigated age-related changes in walking motion in elderly Japanese women and elderly Japanese men, respectively. First, Chapter 2 was focused on identifying the reflective parameters of gait characteristics in the elderly population and hypothesized that differences in gait would exist between elderly and very elderly women. In this Chapter, new timing-related parameters for evaluating age-related changes in gait were proposed, namely, the timing of joint angle and angular velocity peak values throughout the gait cycle. The results of this Chapter demonstrated that very elderly women walked with slower walking speed, shorter step/stride length, and smaller walk ratio than elderly women. The lower walk ratios in very elderly women were indicative of a change in gait behavior from a step length-dependent to cadence-dependent gait pattern. Additionally, very elderly women also exhibit several delayed peak joint angle timings and peak angular velocity at the hip, knee, and ankle joints. The findings in this chapter support the hypothesis that the differences in gait do exist between the subcategories of elderly and very elderly Japanese women. These delayed timings are likely to primarily reflect unique joint behavior in the very elderly.

In the Chapter 2 and 3, significant differences were found between the peak joint angle timing and angular velocity parameters. Interestingly, the peak value

of each leg joints did not show any significant differences. Generally, physical and physiological factors can contribute to the individual differences in gait performance among different age groups (Chung and Wang, 2010). For instance, the elderly participants walked with the similar motor task due to their physiological limits in torque and power production during gait that decreased by aging (DeVita and Hortobagyi, 2000). Mills and Barrett (2001) also suggested that many factors, such as differences in gait speed or stride length, general health condition, and activity levels in the elderly participants, could affect the significance of the peak value of joint movement. Meanwhile, the peak timing parameters in the present study were modified according to the gait cycle, which decreased the influence of the individual differences in the cadence and step length. Therefore, the lack of significant differences in the joint angle measurements were affected by the individual differences, such as the consistency in cadence and the ratio of step length to lower-limb length among the participants.

In order to reflect better the gait parameters that specifically show the walking motion among elderly, Chapter 3 extends the investigation of the previous Chapter by examining the gait characteristics of the elderly Japanese men. For

basic gait and gait cycle parameters, gait characteristics among elderly men could be identified from the reduction in walking speed, the decrease in cadence, the smaller single support percentage, and greater double support percentage. With respect to the joint angle and the angular velocity parameters, specific gait characteristics of elderly Japanese men also could be identified from delayed peak extension timing at the hip and knee joint, smaller first peak plantar flexion angular velocity, and greater second peak plantar flexion angular velocity at the ankle joint.

# 5.2.2 Sex-specific differences with advanced age

Table 5.1 shows the detailed findings of sex-specific differences in advanced age. In this dissertation, Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 identified specific gait characteristics both in elderly Japanese women and in men. Importantly, in order to be more specific about sex- differences in aging of gait motion, the final study (Chapter 4) observed sex-specific differences among elderly aged 65–85 years. While the majority of previous studies were more interested in sex-specific differences in gait motion in both younger and older adults (Cho et al., 2004; Boyer et al., 2008; Bruening et al., 2015), this dissertation focused on identification of the unusual gait characteristics with respect to the sex differences in advanced age.
Chapter 2 and Chapter 3	Chapter 4
	(Elderly men vs. Elderly women)
<ul> <li>1. Same aging effect</li> <li>Slow walking speed</li> <li>Low swing phase percentage</li> <li>High stance phase percentage</li> <li>Delayed peak extension timing at the hip joint</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Specific gait characteristics of sex- differences with advanced age</li> <li>Lower walk ratio in elderly women</li> <li>Delayed peak extension timing at the hip joint in elderly women</li> <li>Delayed peak flexion timing at the knee joint in elderly women</li> <li>Greater hip maximal angle range in</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>2. Different aging effect present only in elderly women <ul> <li>Short step/stride length</li> <li>Low walk ratio</li> <li>Delayed peak flexion timing at the knee joint</li> <li>Delayed peak flexion/extension timing of angular velocity at the knee joint</li> <li>Delayed peak plantar flexion timing of</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	elderly women Substantial gait parameters differences between elderly men and elderly women Lower walk ratio in elderly women Delayed peak extension timing at the hip joint in elderly women
angular velocity at the ankle joint 3. Different aging effect present only in	General gait characteristics of sex-specific
elderly men	differences
<ul> <li>High cadence</li> <li>Low single support percentage</li> <li>High double support percentage</li> <li>Delayed peak extension timing at the knee joint</li> <li>Low first peak plantar flexion angular velocity at the ankle joint</li> <li>High second peak plantar flexion angular velocity at the ankle joint</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Shorter step/stride length in elderly women</li> <li>Faster cadence in elderly women</li> <li>Greater ankle maximal angle range in elderly women</li> </ul>

## Table 5.1 Sex-specific differences with advanced age

— Common parameters between sex-specific differences in Chapters 2-3 and Chapter 4

Table 5.1 shows sex-specific differences between the Chapters 2 and 3 and indicate that the walking speed and the swing phase percentage decreased, while the stance phase percentage increased with age in both sexes. Similarly, delayed peak extension timing at the hip joint occurred in both very elderly women and men. Furthermore, only elderly women showed significant reduction in step/stride length and walk ratio, whilst elderly men showed significant differences in the duration of cadence, swing/stance phase percentage, and single support/double support percentage. Elderly women exhibited a significant difference in peak flexion timing at the knee joint, while the significant difference in the peak extension timing was only found in elderly men. With respect to angular velocity parameters, only elderly women showed significant differences in peak extension/flexion timing at the hip joint, peak flexion timing at the knee joint, and peak plantar flexion timing at the ankle joint. Meanwhile, elderly men showed significant differences in peak values of plantar flexion angular velocities at the ankle joint.

With respect to sex-specific differences in gait characteristics, several parameters such as shorter stride length, higher cadence, and greater maximal angle range at the ankle joint, were a general phenomenon in the majority of

100

women and often reported among younger and/or older individuals. Therefore, these phenomena might not represent sex-specific differences in gait among individuals with advanced age. Regarding the angular velocity parameters, sexspecific differences in the timing of peak flexion angular velocities at the knee joint and hip joint could be considered unusual in elderly individuals. In addition, elderly women showed greater peak angular velocities of all leg joints that were likely to be an instinctive effect of higher cadence during walking in elderly women.

Importantly, two parameters presented in Chapters 2 and 3, namely walk ratio and peak extension timing at the hip joint, were found significantly different according to sex-specific gait characteristics with advanced age (Chapter 4). In this chapter, elderly women indicated a cadence-dependent pattern due to their lower walk ratio compared to elderly men. The sex-specific difference between elderly men and women was also found in the peak extension timing at the hip joint as the reflection of several gait factors, such as the extra effort required to change the hip joint position, poor hip flexor for push-off, and a reduction in the range of extension. Accordingly, walk ratio and peak extension timing at the hip joint were characterized as the very specific gait characteristics related to sex differences irrespective of age.

101

### 5.3 Implications

The findings of this dissertation have implications policy for the quality improvement of the health care system, as well as for the old age and social protection system. As aging is a global issue, new timing-related parameters that were proposed and the understanding of elderly and very elderly individuals gait characteristics would be necessary either for wellbeing or for the nursing, prevention from deterioration of walking ability, and rehabilitation of the motor disorders. Our research is in line with Franz (2016), that presented some rehabilitation approaches to improve the walking performance in aging population, such as resistance training or the hip flexor stretching to increase the flexibility gains, and Achilles tendon investigation to maintain mechanical performance of the plantar flexor muscles in old age. In addition, sex-specific differences could be considered when identifying specific gait characteristics among elderly populations over 65 years.

#### 5.4 Limitations

Our knowledge regarding the gait characteristics among elderly Japanese and

gait parameters that are reflective of walking ability in the elderly individuals was expanded based on this research. In addition, this study reports new insights in the biomechanics and gait analysis field. However, some limitations should be considered. First, the study included only elderly subcategories of participants and lacked a young or middle-aged comparison. When elderly participants were compared with younger or middle-aged participants, more reliable parameters were obtained (Chung and Wang, 2010; Ko et al., 2011; Alcock et al., 2013; Terrier and Reynard, 2015) Second, angular acceleration parameters were not analyzed. Therefore, several parameters did not show differences in two subcategories of Japanese elderly and in the sex-specific differences analysis.

#### 5.5 Future research priorities

In the future, more subcategories of participants should be involved, especially more middle-aged participants, to evaluate the gait differences across a wider age range. Additionally, the peak angular velocities and the temporal relationship of these peak values with the gait cycle, at the hip, knee, and the ankle joints are also necessary in order to investigate gait characteristics in the elderly population.

#### 5.6 Conclusions

This dissertation establishes the new timing-related parameters with respect to the joint angle and angular velocity at the hip, knee, and ankle joints. In order to identify specific gait characteristics among Japanese elderly, several important points have been suggested. First, delays in peak timing of the joint angle and the angular velocity parameters were shown in the very elderly category, both women and men, which primarily reflect unique joint behavior in the very elderly. Second, gait behavior of elderly women is cadence-dependent, consistent with their higher cadence and lower walk ratio. Third, sex-specific differences in walk ratio, the hip maximal angle range, peak extension timing at the hip and knee joints, and the peak timing of flexion angular velocities at the hip and knee joints were unusual for elderly individuals. The findings of this dissertation would be useful as to identify and monitor the parameters that are reflective of gait characteristics in the elderly population.

# References

- Afiah IN, Nakashima H, Muraki S (2014a) Age-Related Changes in the Walking Motion of Japanese Men : Basic Analysis of Gait. In: Proceeding of the 3rd South East Asian Network of Ergonomics Societies International Conference. pp 1–6
- Afiah IN, Nakashima H, Muraki S (2014b) Age-related changes in walking motion of Japanese females : Basic analysis of gait motion. In: Proceeding of the 1st Asian Conference on Ergonomics and Design. pp 1–5
- Alcock L, Vanicek N, O'Brien TD (2013) Alterations in gait speed and age do not fully explain the changes in gait mechanics associated with healthy older women. Gait Posture 37:586–92. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2012.09.023
- Alexander NB (1996) Gait Disorders in Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc 44:434– 451. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1996.tb06417.x
- Anderson DE, Madigan ML (2014) Healthy older adults have insufficient hip range of motion and plantar flexor strength to walk like healthy young adults. J Biomech 47:1104–1109. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2013.12.024
- Andriacchi TP, Ogle JA, Galante JO (1977) Walking speed as a basis for normal and abnormal gait measurements. J Biomech 10:261–268. doi: 10.1016/0021-9290(77)90049-5
- Arif M, Ohtaki Y, Ishihara T, Inooka H (2002) Walking gait stability in young and elderly people and improvement of walking stability using optimal cadence.
  MHS 2002 - Proc 2002 Int Symp Micromechatronics Hum Sci 245–251. doi: 10.1109/MHS.2002.1058042
- Astephen Wilson JL, Deluzio KJ, Dunbar MJ, et al (2011) The association between knee joint biomechanics and neuromuscular control and moderate knee osteoarthritis radiographic and pain severity. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 19:186–93. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2010.10.020
- Ayyappa E (1997) Normal human locomotion, Part 1: basic concepts and terminology. J Prosthetics Orthot 9:10–17.
- Baker RW (2013) Measuring walking: A handbook of clinical gait analysis. Mac Keith Press, UK
- Bendall M, Bassey E, Pearson M (1989) Factors affecting walking speed of elderly people. Age Ageing 18:327–332.

- Bohannon R, Eriksrud O (2001) What measure of lower extremity muscle strength best explains walking independence? J Phys Ther Sci 1–3. doi: 10.1589/jpts.13.1
- Bohannon RW (1997) Comfortable and maximum walking speed of adults aged 20-79 years: Reference values and determinants. Age Ageing 26:15–19. doi: 10.1093/ageing/26.1.15
- Boyer KA, Beaupre GS, Andriacchi TP (2008) Gender differences exist in the hip joint moments of healthy older walkers. J Biomech 41:3360–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2008.09.030
- Bruening DA, Frimenko RE, Goodyear CD, et al (2015) Sex differences in whole body gait kinematics at preferred speeds. Gait Posture 41:540–545. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.12.011
- Callisaya ML, Blizzard L, Schmidt MD, et al (2010) Ageing and gait variability-a population-based study of older people. Age Ageing 39:191–197. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afp250
- Callisaya ML, Blizzard L, Schmidt MD, et al (2009) A population-based study of sensorimotor factors affecting gait in older people. Age Ageing 38:290–295. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afp017
- Callisaya ML, Blizzard L, Schmidt MD, et al (2008) Sex modifies the relationship between age and gait: a population-based study of older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 63:165–170. doi: 63/2/165 [pii]
- Chiu M-C, Wang M-J (2007) The effect of gait speed and gender on perceived exertion, muscle activity, joint motion of lower extremity, ground reaction force and heart rate during normal walking. Gait Posture 25:385–92. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.05.008
- Cho SH, Park JM, Kwon OY (2004) Gender differences in three dimensional gait analysis data from 98 healthy Korean adults. Clin Biomech 19:145–152. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2003.10.003
- Chui KK, Lusardi MM (2010) Spatial and temporal parameters of self-selected and fast walking speeds in healthy community-living adults aged 72-98 years.
- Chung M-J, Wang M-JJ (2010) The change of gait parameters during walking at different percentage of preferred walking speed for healthy adults aged 20-60 years. Gait Posture 31:131–5. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2009.09.013
- Cortazzi H (2015) Japan's population problem. In: Japan Times. http://www.japantimes.co.jp/opinion/2015/11/19/commentary/japancommentary/japans-population-problem/#.Vu06IOJ97cs. Accessed 19 Mar

2016

- Covinsky KE, Palmer RM, Fortinsky RH, et al (2003) Loss of independence in activities of daily living in older adults hospitalized with medical illnesses: Increased vulnerability with age. J Am Geriatr Soc 51:451–458. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51152.x
- Crosbie J, Vachalathiti R, Smith R (1997a) Age, gender and speed effects on spinal kinematics during walking. Gait Posture 5:13–20. doi: 10.1016/S0966-6362(96)01068-5
- Crosbie J, Vachalathiti R, Smith R (1997b) Age, gender and speed effects on spinal kinematics during walking. Gait Posture 5:13–20. doi: 10.1016/S0966-6362(96)01068-5
- Daigle KG (2003) Phyisical activities: A comprehensive model approach. Southeastern Lousiana University
- Decker MJ, Torry MR, Wyland DJ, et al (2003) Gender differences in lower extremity kinematics, kinetics and energy absorption during landing. Clin Biomech 18:662–669. doi: 10.1016/S0268-0033(03)00090-1
- Demura S, Shin S, Takahashi S, Yamaji S (2013) Relationships between gait properties on soft surfaces, physical function, and fall risk for the elderly. Adv Aging Res 2:57–64. doi: 10.4236/aar.2013.22008
- Demura S, Yamada T, Shin S (2008) Age and sex differences in various stepping movements of the elderly. Geriatr Gerontol Int 8:180–187. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0594.2008.00468.x
- Demura T, Demura S, Yamaji S, et al (2012) Gait characteristics when walking with rounded soft sole shoes. Foot 22:18–23. doi: 10.1016/j.foot.2011.09.002
- DeVita P, Hortobagyi T (2000) Age causes a redistribution of joint torques and powers during gait. J Appl Physiol 88:1804–1811.
- Devita P, Skelly WA (1992) Effect of landing stiffness on joint kinetics and energetics in the lower extremity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 24:108–115. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199201000-00018
- Di Nardo F, Mengarelli A, Maranesi E, et al (2015) Gender differences in the myoelectric activity of lower limb muscles in young healthy subjects during walking. Biomed Signal Process Control 19:14–22. doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2015.03.006
- Doyo W, Kozakai R, Kim HY, et al (2011) Spatiotemporal components of the 3-D gait analysis of community-dwelling middle-aged and elderly Japanese: Ageand sex-related differences. Geriatr Gerontol Int 11:39–49. doi:

10.1111/j.1447-0594.2010.00632.x

- Drewnoski A, Evans WJ (2001) Nutrition, physical activity, and quality of life in older adults: Summary. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (suppl 2) 56:89–94. doi: 10.1093/gerona/56.suppl\_2.89
- East-West Center (2010) Asia's aging population The future of population in asia. Honolulu
- El-Ashker S, Carson BP, Ayala F, De Ste Croix M (2015) Sex-related differences in joint-angle-specific functional hamstring-to-quadriceps strength ratios. Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc 1–7. doi: 10.1007/s00167-015-3684-7
- Endo K, Herr H (2014) A model of muscle-tendon function in human walking at self-selected speed. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 22:352–362. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2013.2291903
- Endo K, Herr H, Lee H, Hogan N (2014) Time-varying ankle mechanical impedance during human locomotion. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 22:755–764. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2013.2291903
- Ferber R, McClay Davis I, Williams III DS (2003) Gender differences in lower extremity mechanics during running. Clin Biomech 18:350–357. doi: 10.1016/S0268-0033(03)00025-1
- Frank JS, Patla AE (2003) Balance and mobility challenges in older adults: Implications for preserving community mobility. Am J Prev Med 25:157–163. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(03)00179-X
- Franz JR (2016) The Age-associated reduction in propulsive power generation in walking.
- Friedman JH (1988) Gait In the Elderly. Med Heal Isl 91:134–135.
- Frimenko R, Whitehead C (2014) Do men and women walk differently? A review and meta-analysis ofsex difference in non-pathological gait kinematics. United Stated Air Force, USA
- Gao P, Li H (2016) New Characteristics of active life expectancy of the elderly in China. Adv Aging Res 27–39. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/aar.2016.51003
- Goldberg SR, Öunpuu S, Delp SL (2003) The importance of swing-phase initial conditions in stiff-knee gait. J Biomech 36:1111–1116. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9290(03)00106-4
- Grabiner PC, Biswas ST, Grabiner MD (2001) Age-related changes in spatial and temporal gait variables. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 82:31–5. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2001.18219

- Graham DF, Carty CP, Lloyd DG, Barrett RS (2015) Biomechanical predictors of maximal balance recovery performance amongst community-dwelling older adults. Exp Gerontol 66:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2015.04.006
- Granata KP, Abel MF, Damiano DL (2000) Joint angular velocity in spastic gait and the influence of muscle-tendon lengthening. J Bone Joint Surg Am 82:174–186. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2008.05.010
- Guallar-Castillon P, Santa-Olalla Peralta P, Banegas JR, et al (2004) Physical activity and quality of life in older adults in Spain. Med Clin (Barc) 123:606–610.
- Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Simonsick EM, et al (1995) Lower-extremity function in persons over the age of 70 years as a predictor of subsequent disability. N Engl J Med 332:556–561. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199503023320902
- Hachisuka K, Tsutsui Y, Furusawa K, Ogata H (1998) Gender differences in disability and lifestyle among community-dwelling elderly stroke patients in Kitakyushu, Japan. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 79:998–1002. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(98)90101-0
- Hageman PA, Blanke DJ (1986) Comparison of gait of young women and elderly women. Phys Ther 66:1382–1387.
- Heesch KC, van Gellecum YR, Burton NW, et al (2015) Physical activity, walking, and quality of life in women with depressive symptoms. Am J Prev Med 48:281–91. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.09.030
- Hillcoat-Nalletamby S (2014) The meaning of "Independence" for older people in different residential settings. Journals Gerontol Ser B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 69:419–430. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbu008
- Himann J, Cunningham D, Rechnitzer P, Paterson D (1988) Age-related changes in speed of walking. Med Sci Sport Exerc 20:161–166.
- Hortobágyi T, Rider P, Gruber AH, DeVita P (2016) Age and muscle strength mediate the age-related biomechanical plasticity of gait. Eur J Appl Physiol. doi: 10.1007/s00421-015-3312-8
- Jerome GJ, Ko S, Kauffman D, et al (2015) Gait characteristics associated with walking speed decline in older adults: results from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 60:239–43. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2015.01.007
- Judge JO, Davis RB, Ounpuu S (1996) Step length reductions in advanced age: the role of ankle and hip kinetics. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 51:M303– M312. doi: 10.1093/gerona/51A.6.M303

- Kaneko M, Morimoto Y, Kimura M, et al (1991) A kinematic analysis of walking and physical fitness tersting in elderly women. Can J Sport Sci 16:223–228.
- Kang HG, Dingwell JB (2008) Separating the effects of age and walking speed on gait variability. Gait Posture 27:572–577. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2007.07.009
- Kernozek TW, Torry MR, Iwasaki M (2007) Gender differences in lower extremity landing mechanics caused by neuromuscular fatigue. Am J Sports Med 36:554–565. doi: 10.1177/0363546507308934
- Kerrigan DC, Todd MK, Della Croce U, et al (1998) Biomechanical gait alterations independent of speed in the healthy elderly: Evidence for specific limiting impairments. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 79:317–322. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(98)90013-2
- Kharb A, Saini V, Jain Y, Dhiman S (2011) A review of gait cycle and its parameters. IJCEM Int J Comput Eng Manag 13:78–83.
- Kimura M, Mizuta C, Yamada Y, et al (2012) Constructing an index of physical fitness age for Japanese elderly based on 7-year longitudinal data: Sex differences in estimated physical fitness age. Age (Omaha) 34:203–214. doi: 10.1007/s11357-011-9225-5
- Kimura T, Kobayashi H, Nakayama E, Hanaoka M (2007) Effects of aging on gait patterns in the healthy elderly. Anthropol Sci 115:67–72. doi: 10.1537/ase.060309
- Kirkwood R, Gomes H, Sampaio R, et al (2007) Biomechanical analysis of hip and knee joints during gait in elderly subjects. Acta Ortopédica Bras 15:267– 271. doi: doi.org/10.1590/S1413-78522007000500007
- Kirtley C (2006) Clinical gait analysis, 1st edn. Elsevier
- Kirtley C, Whittle MW, Jefferson RJ (1985) Influence of walking speed on gait parameters. J Biomed Eng 7:282–288. doi: 10.1016/0141-5425(85)90055-X
- Ko S, Stenholm S, Ferrucci L (2010) Characteristic gait patterns in older adults with obesity--results from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. J Biomech 43:1104–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2009.12.004
- Ko S, Stenholm S, Metter EJ, Ferrucci L (2012) Age-associated gait patterns and the role of lower extremity strength - Results from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 55:474–479. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2012.04.004
- Ko S, Tolea MI, Hausdorff JM, Ferrucci L (2011) Sex-specific differences in gait patterns of healthy older adults: Results from the Baltimore Longitudinal

Study of Aging. J Biomech 44:1974–1979. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2011.05.005

- Lee M, Kim J, Son J, Kim Y (2013) Kinematic and kinetic analysis during forward and backward walking. Gait Posture 38:674–8. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2013.02.014
- Leung J, Smith R, Harvey LA, et al (2014) The impact of simulated ankle plantarflexion contracture on the knee joint during stance phase of gait: a within-subject study. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 29:423–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2014.01.009
- Liu MQ, Anderson FC, Pandy MG, Delp SL (2006) Muscles that support the body also modulate forward progression during walking. J Biomech 39:2623–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.08.017
- Liu T, Inoue Y, Shibata K (2009) Development of a wearable sensor system for quantitative gait analysis. Measurement 42:978–988. doi: 10.1016/j.measurement.2009.02.002
- Lockhart TE, Kim S (2006) Relationship between hamstring activation rate and heel contact velocity: factors influencing age-related slip-induced falls. Gait Posture 24:23–34. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2005.06.016
- Lord S, Galna B, Verghese J, et al (2013) Independent domains of gait in older adults and associated motor and nonmotor attributes: Validation of a factor analysis approach. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 68:820–827. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gls255
- Mazzà C, Iosa M, Picerno P, Cappozzo A (2009) Gender differences in the control of the upper body accelerations during level walking. Gait Posture 29:300–3. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2008.09.013
- McGibbon CA, Krebs DE (2001) Age-related changes in lower trunk coordination and energy transfer during gait. J Neurophysiol 85:1923–1931.
- Menz HB, Lord SR, Fitzpatrick RC (2003) Age-related differences in walking stability. Age Ageing 32:137–142. doi: 10.1093/ageing/32.2.137
- Mills PM, Barrett RS (2001) Swing phase mechanics of healthy young and elderly men. Hum Mov Sci 20:427–446. doi: 10.1016/S0167-9457(01)00061-6
- Moyer BE, Chambers AJ, Redfern MS, Cham R (2006) Gait parameters as predictors of slip severity in younger and older adults. Ergonomics 49:329– 343. doi: 10.1080/00140130500478553
- Mundermann A, Dyrby CO, Andriacchi TP (2005) Secondary gait changes in patients with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis: Increased load at the

ankle, knee, and hip during walking. Arthritis Rheum 52:2835–2844. doi: 10.1002/art.21262

- Muramatsu N, Akiyama H (2011) Japan: Super-aging society preparing for the future. Gerontologist 51:425–432. doi: 10.1093/geront/gnr067
- Murray MP, Kory RC, Clarckson BH (1969) Walking patterns in healthy old men. J Gerontol 24:169–178.
- Nene A, Mayagoitia R, Veltink P (1999) Assessment of rectus femoris function during initial swing phase. Gait Posture 9:1–9. doi: 10.1016/S0966-6362(98)00042-3
- Norris JA, Granata KP, Mitros MR, et al (2007) Effect of augmented plantarflexion power on preferred walking speed and economy in young and older adults. Gait Posture 25:620–7. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.07.002
- Oberg T, Karsznia A, Oberg K (1993) Basic gait parameters: reference data for normal subjects, 10-79 years of age. J Rehabil Res Dev 30:210–23.
- Ogawa N, Matsukura R (2007) Ageing in Japan: the health and wealth of older persons. In: United Nations Expert Group Meeting on Social and Economic Implications of Changing Population Age Structures. pp 199–220
- Penninx BW, Messier SP, Rejeski WJ, et al (2001) Physical exercise and the prevention of disability in activities of daily living in older persons with osteoarthritis. Arch Intern Med 161:2309–2316. doi: 10.1001/archinte.161.19.2309
- Pernambuco CS, Rodrigues BM, Bezerra JCP, et al (2012) Quality of life, elderly and physical activity. Health (Irvine Calif) 4:88–93. doi: 10.4236/health.2012.42014
- Perry J, Burnfield JM (2010) Gait analysis: Normal and pathological function, 2nd ed. SLACK Incorporated, USA
- Prince F, Corriveau H, Hébert R, Winter DA (1997) Gait in the elderly. Gait Posture 5:128–135. doi: 10.1016/S0966-6362(97)01118-1
- Rancho los amigos national rehabilitation center (1989) Observational gait analysis, 4th Editio. Los Amigos Research and Education Institute, Los Amigos
- Riggs BL, Melton Iii LJ, Robb R a, et al (2004) Population-based study of age and sex differences in bone volumetric density, size, geometry, and structure at different skeletal sites. J Bone Miner Res 19:1945–1954. doi: 10.1359/JBMR.040916

Roppolo M, Mulasso A, Magistro D, et al (2012) Shintaido in the elderly : The new

way for physical and psychological health. 1:22–30.

- Rueterbories J, Spaich EG, Larsen B, Andersen OK (2010) Methods for gait event detection and analysis in ambulatory systems. Med Eng Phys 32:545– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2010.03.007
- Sadeghi H, Prince F, Zabjek K., et al (2002) Knee flexors/extensors in gait of elderly and young able-bodied men (II). Knee 9:55–63. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0160(01)00137-5
- Salzman B (2010) Gait and balance disorders in older adults. Am Fam Physician 82:61–68.
- Savelberg HHCM, Meijer K (2004) The effect of age and joint angle on the proportionality of extensor and flexor strength at the knee joint. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 59:1120–1128.
- Schmitz A, Silder A, Heiderscheit B, et al (2009) Differences in lower-extremity muscular activation during walking between healthy older and young adults. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 19:1085–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2008.10.008
- Schulz BW (2012) Healthy younger and older adults control foot placement to avoid small obstacles during gait primarily by modulating step width. J Neuroeng Rehabil. doi: DOI: 10.1186/1743-0003-9-69
- Sekiya N, Nagasaki H (1998) Reproducibility of the walking patterns of normal young adults: test-retest reliability of the walk ratio(step-length/step-rate). Gait Posture 7:225–227. doi: 10.1016/S0966-6362(98)00009-5
- Shin S, Valentine RJ, Evans EM, Sosnoff JJ (2012) Lower extremity muscle quality and gait variability in older adults. Age Ageing 41:595–599. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afs032
- Shono T, Masumoto K, Fujishima K, et al (2007) Gait patterns and muscle activity in the lower extremities of elderly women during underwater treadmill walking against water flow. J Physiol Anthropol 26:579–86. doi: JST.JSTAGE/jpa2/26.579 [pii]
- Silder A, Heiderscheit B, Thelen DG (2008) Active and passive contributions to joint kinetics during walking in older adults. J Biomech 41:1520–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2008.02.016
- Singer S, Klejman S, Pinsker E, et al (2013) Ankle arthroplasty and ankle arthrodesis: gait analysis compared with normal controls. J Bone Joint Surg Am 95:e191(1-10). doi: 10.2106/JBJS.L.00465
- Stenroth L, Sillanpaa E, McPhee JS, et al (2015) Plantarflexor muscle-tendon properties are associated with mobility in healthy older adults. J Gerontol A

Biol Sci Med Sci 70:996–1002. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv011

- Sun W, Aodeng S, Tanimoto Y, et al (2015) Quality of life (QOL) of the communitydwelling elderly and associated factors: A population-based study in urban areas of China. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 60:311–316. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2014.12.002
- Terrier P, Reynard F (2015) Effect of age on the variability and stability of gait: A cross-sectional treadmill study in healthy individuals between 20 and 69 years of age. Gait Posture 41:170–174. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.09.024
- Thakurta AG, Iqbal R, Bhasin H V, et al (2016) Human gait with reference to age, gender and impact of load: A review. Adv Appl Physiol 1:24–30. doi: 10.11648/j.aap.20160102.12
- Thaler-Kall K, Peters A, Thorand B, et al (2015) Description of spatio-temporal gait parameters in elderly people and their association with history of falls: results of the population-based cross-sectional KORA-Age study. BMC Geriatr 15:32. doi: 10.1186/s12877-015-0032-1
- Thorp LE, Sumner DR, Block JA, et al (2006) Knee joint loading differs in individuals with mild compared with moderate medial knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 54:3842–3849. doi: 10.1002/art.22247
- Toebes MJP, Hoozemans MJM, Furrer R, et al (2012) Local dynamic stability and variability of gait are associated with fall history in elderly subjects. Gait Posture 36:527–31. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2012.05.016
- Umberger BR (2010) Stance and swing phase costs in human walking. J R Soc Interface 7:1329–40. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2010.0084
- United Nation, Department of Economic and Social Affairs PD (2015) World population prospects: The 2015 revision, key findings and advance tables.
- Van Iersel MB, Ribbers H, Munneke M, et al (2007) The effect of cognitive dual tasks on balance during walking in physically fit elderly people. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 88:187–91. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2006.10.031
- Verlinden VJA, van der Geest JN, Hoogendam YY, et al (2013) Gait patterns in a community-dwelling population aged 50 years and older. Gait Posture 37:500–505. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2012.09.005
- Vieira ER, Lim H-H, Brunt D, et al (2015) Temporo-spatial gait parameters during street crossing conditions: a comparison between younger and older adults. Gait Posture 41:510–5. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.12.001
- Wada T, Ishine M, Sakagami T, et al (2005) Depression, activities of daily living, and quality of life of community-dwelling elderly in three Asian countries:

Indonesia, Vietnam, and Japan. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 41:271-80. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2005.03.003

- Watanabe K, Kouzaki M, Moritani T (2015) Regional neuromuscular regulation within human rectus femoris muscle during gait in young and elderly men. J Biomech 49:19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2015.11.010
- Watelain E, Barbier F, Allard P, et al (2000) Gait pattern classification of healthy elderly men based on biomechanical data. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 81:579–586. doi: 10.1053/mr.2000.4415
- Whittle MW (2007) Gait analysis: An introduction, 4th ed. Butterworth Heinemann Elsevier, UK
- Winegard KJ, Hicks AL, Sale DG, Vandervoort AA (1996) A 12-year follow-up study of ankle muscle function in older adults. J Gerontol Biol Sci 51:B202–B207.
- Winter DA (1991) The biomechanics and motor control of human gait: Normal, elderly and pathological, 2nd Edition. Waterlo Press, Canada
- Winter DA (1984) Kinematic and kinetic patterns in human gait: Variability and compensating effects. Hum Mov Sci 3:51–76. doi: 10.1016/0167-9457(84)90005-8
- Winter DA, Patla AE, Frank JS, Walt SE (1990) Biomechanical walking pattern changes in the fit and healthy elderly. Phys Ther 70:340–347. doi: 10.1016/0966-6362(96)82849-9
- Woollacott MH, Tang PF (1997) Balance control during walking in the older adult: research and its implications. Phys Ther 77:646–60.
- World Health Organization (2016) Life expectancy increased by 5 years since 2000, buth health inequalities persist. In: World Heal. Stat. 2016. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2016/health-inequalitiespersist/en/. Accessed 27 Jun 2016
- Yasunaga A, Togo F, Watanabe E, et al (2008) Sex, age, season, and habitual physical activity of older Japanese: The Nakanojo study. J Aging Phys Act 16:3–13.